ALGEBRA: A META ANALYTIC REPORT OF INSTRUCTIONAL

INTERVENTIONS

A Dissertation

by

JOSHUA JOHN MARBACH

Submitted to the Office of Graduate and Professional Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee,	Cynthia Riccio
Committee Members,	Christopher Thompson
	Dianne Goldsby
	Jeffery Liew
Head of Department,	Fuhui Tong

December 2020

Major Subject: School Psychology

ABSTRACT

The present study is a systematic meta-analytic study of 38 primary sources investigating the effectiveness of algebra interventions for students who are struggling. We systematically searched and screened over 1,300 records for studies to include. We computed summary effect sizes for each of the 12 interventions included. We conducted 4 separate meta-regressions for potential moderators found to influence the effectiveness of intervention. Results indicate interventions to improve algebra performance on posttest measures do appear to have evidence of effectiveness. Summary effect sizes at postintervention were medium to large for group design studies (k = 18, g = 0.71, 95% CI, [0.50, 0.93], p < .0001) and large to very large for single case studies (k = 20, Tau-U = 0.93, 95% CI, [0.76, 1.11], p < .0001). Data was considered unbalanced due to multiple interventions being used within the same study, so individual effect sizes for specific interventions were unable to be compared and accurately calculated without significant limitations. Sample sizes were considered small and therefore results should be cautiously interpreted. Moderator analyses provided minimal information due to unbalanced data, but showed minimal change in effect sizes despite legal and systematic changes through Common Core (2010). Follow-up data did not seem to moderate effect size, nor did length of intervention. Training of the interventionist suggested minor impact on effectiveness of intervention; however, small sample size and unbalanced data limited the application of this information. We discuss interpretations and implications

of these results, as well as limitations and future directions for algebra intervention research.

DEDICATION

This work is foremost dedicated to my grandfather who inspired me to become a school psychologist, I miss you greatly and appreciate everything you taught me. Secondly, this work is dedicated to all those who help struggling learners; you are true heroes and are underappreciated.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation has been quite the experience. It has tested me in many ways and I would not have been able to accomplish this gauntlet of a task without a great supporting cast.

First off, all glory be to God! Without Him there is no way I'd be in this position. He has comforted me in times of distress and provided me guidance when I was lost. I am forever thankful for my family and friends who supported me throughout this endeavor. Your late-night vent sessions and gentle pushes to get my act together and finish this thing are greatly appreciated. You motivated me more than you will ever know.

I am eternally grateful to Cynthia Riccio, Ph.D. for her guidance and mentorship throughout this process. I know I am not an easy student to work with and I am so thankful you stuck with me and encouraged me when I was down. Dr. Riccio, you are an absolute champ and a large reason I am writing this section today.

Christopher Thompson, Ph.D., I am enormously grateful for the many hours you spent re-teaching me statistics and R syntax. I appreciate your encouragement and prompt and honest feedback. I would not have made it here without you.

To Dianne Goldsby, Ph.D., thank you for providing your time, your perspective, and your feedback from proposal through defense. Your diverse perspective as an outside department committee member is very much appreciated and needed. I remember being in your class as a measly undergraduate student and admiring your brilliant teaching; you are the real boots on the ground implementing these interventions.

To Jeffery Liew, Ph.D., thank you for providing your time, your perspective, and your feedback from proposal through defense. You never stopped encouraging me and helping throughout the entire process. Your eagerness to learn about my research was always a pleasant experience.

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

Contributors

This work was supervised by a dissertation committee consisting of Christopher Thompson, Ph.D., Cynthia Riccio, Ph.D., and Jeffery Liew, Ph.D., of the Department of Educational Psychology, and Dianne Goldsby, Ph.D. of the Department of Teaching Learning and Culture.

The data analyzed as a part of this meta-analysis was coded by the student and 30% of the studies were also coded by a fellow graduate student. The analyses depicted in Chapter IV were guided in part by Christopher Thompson, Ph.D. of the Department of Educational Psychology. All other work conducted for this dissertation was completed by the student independently.

Funding Sources

Graduate study was supported by a graduate assistantship from The Center for Teaching Excellence at Texas A&M University. Additional support was provided by a year-long, full-time, paid internship at Fort Worth Independent School District and personal funds.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa	age
ABSTRACT	ii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES	.vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	.xii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Educational Reform State of Performance Difficulties for Students with Specific Learning Disabilities (SLD) Common Core and Math Instruction in Special Education Developmental Trajectory of Math Skill Acquisition Importance of Algebra Prevalence of Algebra Failure Associated Negative Outcomes Addressing Algebra Failure Pedagogical and Instructional Techniques Curriculum Design Individual Student Deficits Statement of the Problem The Current Study Definition of Terms	2 3 4 5 7 9 .10 .10 .12 .13 .13 .13 .15
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW	.18
What is algebra? Algebra Previous Meta-Analyses, Literature Reviews and Systematic Reviews Weaknesses of Existing Meta-analyses and Need for a Current Meta-analysis	.18 .19 .22 .28 30

Arithmetic to Algebra Gap	30
Modeling and Schema	31
Problem Solving	32
Self-Regulation	35
Summary	36
CHAPTER III: METHODS	38
Location and Selection of Studies	39
Screening and Coding of Studies	41
Preliminary Screening.	41
Planned Analyses	43
Effect Size – Single Case Study	44
Effect Size Two-Group Design	45
Effect Size Single Group Studies	46
Heterogeneity in Effect Sizes	47
Publication Bias	48
Meta-regression	49
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	51
Heterogeneity Analyses	52
Heterogeneity of Intervention Results	53
Results are presented first for effect sizes at post-intervention. Table 3 provides	
an overview of relevant statistics for examining heterogeneity at post-	
intervention	53
Heterogeneity for Algebra Skills Intervention	53
Analyses of Publication Bias	56
Research Question 1	58
Research Question 2	60
Modeling and Schema	63
Problem Solving	64
Self-Regulation	65
Technology	66
Explicit Instruction (EI)	66
Guided Practice	67
Feedback and Reinforcement	68
Peer Tutoring	69
Cognitive Strategy Instruction (CSI)	70
Concrete-Representational-Abstract (CRA)	71
Enhanced Anchored Instruction (EAI)	71
Graphic Organizer	72
Research Question 3	75
Hypothesis 3a	75

Hypothesis 3b	76
Hypothesis 3c	77
Hypothesis 3d	
Research Question 4	79
Study Quality	80
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	
Implications	
Limitations and Future Directions	
Conclusion	
REFERENCES	89
APPENDIX A	115
APPENDIX B	121
APPENDIX C	

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1 Previous Meta-Analyses of Algebra Instruction/Intervention	27
Table 2 Inclusion and Exclusion Factors	40
Table 3 Effect Sizes by Research Design	44
Table 4 Effect Sizes of Intervention	53
Table 5 Intervention Moderator Results for Group Designs	62
Table 6 Intervention Moderator Results for Single Case Designs	74
Table 7 Interventionist Training	76
Table 8 Intervention Length (weeks)	77
Table 9 NCTM	77
Table 10 Follow-up	79
Table 11 Post-2009	80

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1 PRISMA Flow Diagram	52
Figure 2 Algebra Skills Post-Intervention Forest Plot for Single Case Studies	55
Figure 3 Algebra Skills Post-Intervention Forest Plot for Group Design Studies	55
Figure 4 Trim-and-Fill Plot for Single Case Studies	57
Figure 5 Trim-and-Fill Plot for Group Design Studies	57

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Expectations for students in mathematics have become increasingly more demanding in recent years due to the federal Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) education efforts and the adoption of the Common Core State Standards (CCSS). For example, CCSS implements more rigorous and greater conceptual understanding of basic math skills than are currently found in most state standards (Watt, Watkins & Abbit, 2016). Further, the STEM initiative has placed a greater emphasis on mathematics in the K-12 curriculum, challenging schools to broaden the involvement of minority populations in STEM programming (Watt et al., 2016).

The National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP, 2013) identified a large gap in achievement and expectation for students in math, particularly struggling learners and those with specific learning disabilities (SLD), and in relation to algebrabased concepts. Research in this area supports the notion that early expertise and mastery of math skills predicts future academic achievement more than any other skill (Duncan et al., 2007). These successes are linked to achievement after high school (Ketterlin-Geller, Chard, & Fien, 2008). Results show those who have not mastered the basic computational fluency skills by the end of elementary school are at a significantly higher risk for future difficulties in mathematics and problem solving, including algebra (Axtell, McCallum, Bell, & Poncy, 2009; Ketterlin-Geller, Chard, & Fien, 2008). With the completion of Algebra I being mandatory in most school districts to receive a diploma, the importance to understand this math skill cannot be undervalued

Educational Reform

Reform efforts at the state and national levels, including the CCSS and the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM), call for increased rigor in curriculum and improved performance in the field of mathematics for students (National Center for Education Statistics [NCES], 2013). In looking at reform, efforts can be considered from multiple perspectives, including the state of performance in mathematics, the implementation of certain legal guidelines, state and national standards, and the effects on special education.

State of Performance

Recent data from the NAEP (2015) revealed only 40% of fourth grade and 33% of eighth grade students meet proficiency standards in mathematics. Moreover, students who possess a specific learning disability (SLD) perform worse on academic measures in mathematics (NAEP, 2015). Math skill deficits are identified as the second highest factor in the identification of a student learning disability (Kavale & Reese, 1992) or among the top three (Cortellia & Horowitz, 2014). In fact, Burns, Appleton, and Steuhouwer (2005) found an average of 20% of students require general supplementary academic supports outside what the typical classroom instruction provides. Approximately 5-8% of school-aged students evidence a skill deficit of some sort in the field of mathematics (Geary, 2004; Kosc, 1974). Success in algebra requires a solid

foundation and understanding of basic math computations in addition to a strong conceptual framework and problem-solving ability (Thornton, Langrall, & Jones, 1997).

Difficulties for Students with Specific Learning Disabilities (SLD).

Under federal law, students are eligible to receive special education services if they have a disability that adversely affects academic and/or functional performance (Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act [IDEIA], 2004). One of the disability categories is specific to those students who demonstrate psychological processing deficits that result in lower than expected achievement (IDEIA, 2004). Students with SLD experience challenges in solving problems, recognizing and selecting appropriate strategies, organizing information, monitoring their problem-solving method, generalizing strategies to appropriate situations, and assessing problems for accuracy (Miller & Mercer, 1997). Teachers reported they do not feel students with SLD demonstrate the adequate, nor consistent, knowledge of these facts nor do they demonstrate the ability to apply them in conceptual-based problems, like algebra (Bottge, 1999). Students who have SLD experience challenges in procedural and conceptual aspects of math, both of which are necessary for success in algebra (Watt, 2013). As problems become more challenging and require the use of multiple operations (e.g., algebra and fractions), students with SLD make more procedural errors and have difficulty detecting errors after they have been committed (Geary, 2003). Due to the nature of algebra, a subgroup of mathematics that demands multiple computations and procedures, it is understandable why algebra is among the most difficult for students

who struggle academically (Jordan, Miller, & Mercer, 1999). The prevalence of these deficits has increased with the amplified rigor of the mathematics curriculum through the implementation of the CCSS and the push for STEM education efforts (NCES, 2013; Watt et al., 2016). These efforts are largely exemplified through the CCSS.

Common Core and Math Instruction in Special Education.

Based on the numerous academic, functional, and social needs of the diverse population of students with disabilities, it is vital that educational practitioners implement interventions that are both empirically validated and capable of being tailored to fit the individual's needs (Watt et al., 2016). The CCSS (2010) set a high bar for success, requiring students to develop a depth of understanding and the ability to apply mathematics to novel situations. The standards stress profound conceptual understanding to certify that students understand the vital information needed to succeed at higher levels, both in and out of school. High school standards require students to reason mathematically and apply mathematical ways of thinking to real world issues and challenges while elementary standards require students to grasp the underlying concepts and begin to think critically about how these skills can be applied both inside and outside the classroom environment (CCSS, 2010). Due to the increased demands of the more challenging curriculum, not all students meet the expectations of the CCSS; some require more intensive supports.

Mathematics instruction in special education classrooms, in most cases, however, emphasizes rote memorization of computational skills and facts, rather than encouraging the students to develop a deeper, conceptual understanding of the higher-level concepts (Marita & Hord, 2017; Rivera, 1997). Educators explained that, in special education classrooms, they do not focus on developing logical thinking or applying the mathematical skills to real-world situations, but rather limit themselves to promoting rote memorization (Marita & Hord, 2017). This is counterintuitive to current trends in research and academics, as national standards are promoting earlier integration of problem-solving skills (Bottge, 1999; United States Department of Education, 2006; Woodward & Montague, 2000) and integrating classroom content with real-world application (Bottge, Rueda, & Skivington, 2006; Haselbring, Lott, & Zydney, 2006). In order to understand how to provide effective intervention for students with SLD, other disabilities, or those who struggle learning mathematics, it is first important to understand the means and sequences by which they learn mathematics.

Developmental Trajectory of Math Skill Acquisition

The progression of math skills is variable for every student, with typical development including a series of four phases: allegorization, integration, analysis, and synthesis (Knisley, 2001). In the first phase, the concept is figuratively described in a context that is familiar to the student. Integration allows for comparison, measurement, and exploration as the student is able to differentiate the particular skill from other skills. Analysis permits the new concept and information to add itself to the existing knowledge base. Lastly, synthesis allows the concept to form its' own identity and can be used to help understand future concepts that may be in one of the prior stages. Skills in mathematics are slow to develop and inaccurate initially, yet as the student learns the skill, the responses become more accurate while task completion remains slow (Haring

& Eaton, 1978). As learning continues and mastery begins to emerge, the speed at which they are able to complete the task accurately increases and they can begin to apply their knowledge to foreign stimuli and learn to solve problems. The sequential learning process of mathematics, suggests concepts and skills build upon one another (Haring & Eaton, 1978). Basic skills with numbers are important for a variety of everyday uses, providing a foundation for learning higher-level mathematics, as well as succeeding in work life (Aunio & Rasanen, 2016; Ball et al., 2005).

Research supports the notion that early expertise and mastery of math skills predicts future academic achievement more than any other skill (Duncan et al., 2007). Additionally, these successes were linked to achievement after high school (Ketterlin-Geller, Chard, & Fien, 2008). Students who have not mastered the basic computational fluency skills by the end of elementary school are at a significantly higher risk for future difficulties in mathematics and problem solving, including algebra (Axtell, McCallum, Bell, & Poncy, 2009; Ketterlin-Geller et al., 2008).

The Matthew Effect describes the increased difference in knowledge between higher functioning and lower functioning students and how it grows with time - "the rich get richer and the poor get poorer" (Stanovich, 1986, p. 360). This is true for mathematical difficulties as well. Growth rates of students in the lower percentiles are slower than those in the higher percentiles, indicating the gap between the two groups widens as time progresses (Morgan, Farkas, & Wu, 2009). Greenstein and Strains (1977) found that mathematics abilities of students with SLD plateaued at the 4th-grade level; these students rarely achieved higher-level problem-solving skills. Warner, Alley, Schumaker, Deshler, and Clark (1980) discovered adolescents with SLD reached a mathematics plateau after 7th grade and made on average only one year of growth in mathematics between Grades 7 and 12. These students who present early difficulties that are not addressed continue to have difficulties in the future (Calhoon, Wall, Flores, & Houchins, 2007). This has been demonstrated across a variety of mathematical concepts, from arithmetic (Steel & Funnell, 2001), to computation (Steel & Funnell, 2001), to problem solving (Axtell et al., 2009; Ketterlin-Geller et al., 2008).

Importance of Algebra

An important notion of mathematics is being able to mentally represent the concepts and translate those schemas into useful information (Jitendra, DiPipi, & Perron-Jones, 2002). By doing so, students are better able to represent the problem presented and have been shown to improve academic performance (Jitendra & Xin, 1997; Xin & Jitendra, 1999). While it is important to understand the process by which students learn mathematics, the focus of this paper will center primarily on the intervention efforts and pedagogical techniques for algebra in the classroom. Algebra is a critical area of mathematical knowledge that sets the foundation for future math success both inside and outside the classroom (Fennell, 2008). The Nation's Report Card (2015) explained that two of the three assessed algebra skills in 4th graders (create a pattern of shapes given a verbal description, and solve a one variable linear equation) fell below the proficiency standards.

The Third International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS) results positioned the scores of the United States 12th-grade students lower than 11 of 16 participating countries on the algebra subscore (U.S. Department of Education, 1998), and the most recent Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) placed the United States in 38th place out of 71 countries (OECD, 2016). Additionally, the National Mathematics Advisory Panel (NMAP, 2008) and the RAND Mathematics Study Report (2002) called for improvement in students' learning of algebra because of this gap in achievement. With the gap in algebra achievement and expectations (NAEP, 2015), intervention efforts are vital to providing empirically supported techniques and strategies for remedying these problems.

Due to a conceptual framework that requires abstract thinking and the representation of quantities with non-numeric symbols, algebra is considered the gateway skill for higher order mathematics (Watt et al., 2016). Algebra failure is a key predictor of high school dropout (Silver, Saunders, & Zarate, 2008), has been deemed a "central concern" for mathematics by the NMAP (2008, p. xii), and is a critical concept linked to future success in higher level mathematics, entrance into college, as well as financial equity in the labor force (Fennel, 2008; Watt et al., 2016). Algebra teaches students the language of math while continuing to develop important critical thinking skills, logic, and problem-solving ability (Fennel, 2008).

Not all students graduate from high school with the aspiration to attend college or advance further in a post-secondary education. The nature of algebra spans across a variety of domains; it can be utilized calculating one's income tax, determining statistics for athletes, or estimating a car's gas mileage. Don Davis, the executive director of the Electrical Training Institute, which runs apprenticeship programs for union electricians in Los Angeles, said, "If you want to work in the real world, if you want to wire buildings and plumb buildings, that's when it requires algebra" (Helfand, 2006, p.1).

Prevalence of Algebra Failure

The ability to master algebraic concepts and skills is a critical step to success in college mathematics courses; however, many students find themselves underprepared and fail the first time they take higher level algebra courses (Balfanz, McPartland, & Shaw, 2002; Finkelstein, Fong, Tiffany-Morales, Shields, & Huang, 2012; Huang, Snipes, & Finkelstein, 2014). In a California study, 44% of the student population repeated algebra I, and 69.6% of students in special education repeated algebra I (Fong, Jaquet, & Finkelstein, 2014). 82% of students in a Montgomery, Alabama school district failed the Algebra I exam (St. George, 2014). Across the United States the prevalence of algebra failure penetrates the educational system.

Associated Negative Outcomes

Passing Algebra I by the end of freshman year has been linked to a 75% improved likelihood of on-time graduation in a California study (Silver, Saunders, & Zarate, 2008). On the other hand, failing algebra can lead to considerable negative consequences, such as continued mathematics difficulties, higher rates of disengagement, higher suspension rates, and higher absenteeism (Finkelstein et al, 2012; Schiller & Muller, 2003; Schiller, Schmidt, Muller, & Houang, 2010; Spielhagen, 2006). Finkelstein and colleagues (2012) found only one in five students who take algebra in ninth grade after initially failing it in eighth grade achieved proficiency by the end of ninth grade; illustrating that four out of five continue to fail algebra. Those students not achieving proficiency standards by the end of ninth grade were shown to have little chance of completing, much less succeeding in advanced college preparatory mathematics courses by the end of their high school education (Schiller & Muller, 2003; Schiller, Schmidt, Muller, & Houang, 2010; Spielhagen, 2006).

Addressing Algebra Failure

While there are discrepant opinions between researchers about the underlying cause of low algebra achievement, there is some consensus that the problem stems from a series of origins: pedagogical and instructional techniques, curriculum design, and individual student deficits. These will be further discussed in subsequent paragraphs.

Pedagogical and Instructional Techniques

The initial tier of instruction to help remedy low algebra achievement is found at the classroom instructional level. Classrooms, particularly special education classrooms, often do not focus on developing logical thinking or applying the mathematical skills to real-world situations, but rather promote rote memorization, thus limiting the possibilities to achieve greater outcomes (Marita & Hord, 2017). Research has produced many intervention techniques and modes to implement those interventions; however, much more research is needed to assess these techniques and their effectiveness for various populations (Haas, 2005; Hughes et al., 2014; Impecoven-Lind & Foegen, 2010; Rakes, Valentine, McGatha, & Ronau, 2010; Steele & Steele, 2003; Watt et al., 2016). These techniques include: modeling and schematic approaches, cognitive strategy instruction (CSI), explicit inquiry routine (EIR), and graphic organizers.

Modeling and schematic approaches derive from the evidence that solutions, particularly in algebra, are generated through mental representations (Jitendra, Griffin, Deatline-Buchman, & Sczesniak 2007; Jonassen, 2003). Modeling and schema-based instruction emphasize both the mathematical structure and the semantic structure of a problem and focus on understanding key words and being able to represent those key words in alternate forms (Seel, 2012). CSI in an instructional technique used to teach students cognitive and metacognitive processes that are employed by skillful students to solve problems and complete tasks (Impecoven-Lind & Foegen, 2010). When implementing CSI, the student aims to explore his or her various strategies through flexible thinking and self-reliant learning processes as he or she attempts to solve problems. EIR is an instructional technique that implores the student to follow explicit, sequential instruction to solve a problem while aiming to develop a deeper conceptualized understanding of the content through experiential learning and a scaffolded approach (Scheuermann, Deshler, & Schumaker, 2009). EIR is a pedagogical technique that serves as an umbrella term for many common interventions, such as a) general problem-solving strategies in problem representation and problem solution; b) self- monitoring; the concrete-representational-abstract methodology; and c) the teaching of prerequisite skills (Strickland & Maccini, 2010). Lastly, graphic organizers (e.g., diagrams and charts) are empirically supported techniques for improving algebra skills

11

(Ives, 2007). Graphic organizers are visual representations of information that depict relationships between facts or ideas within a learning task (Hall & Strangman, 2002).

Curriculum Design

Recent efforts to reform the mathematics curriculum have produced curricula that call for more intense understanding and increased rigor as well as performance in the field of mathematics (NCES, 2013). The arithmetic to algebra gap is believed to be one of the contributing causes in poor algebra performance in students, particularly in students with disabilities (Witzel, Smith, & Brownell, 2001). This gap analyzes the differences in the concreteness of arithmetic and the abstract concepts that come into play when introducing algebra. Many students, both with and without SLD, demonstrated problems when they first experienced algebraic concepts due to the abstract or symbolic nature of the field and reasoning involved (Miles & Forcht, 1995; Vogel, 2008). Often times this is the first encounter they have with abstract reasoning and problem solving. In order to remedy this situation, policy makers have attempted to implement curriculums that span algebra instruction across all grade levels, thus allowing appropriate time to adequately understand the concepts (NCTM, 2000, 2006; National Governors Association Center for Best Practices [NGA] & Council of Chief State School Officers [CCSSO], 2010). It is important to note algebra instruction, according to the NCTM standards found in Appendix C, begins early in education. For example, students are learning and practicing algebraic skills when they use a box or a blank space to represent a value. Often times educators do not view this as algebra, but the representation of the unknown value is a crucial algebraic concept.

Individual Student Deficits

In addition to the aforementioned areas of concern, specific student deficits contribute to the underlying problems associated with low algebra achievement. Research has suggested deficits stem from poor problem-solving ability (Jitendra, DiPipi, & Perron-Jones, 2002; Seel, 2012), difficulty with mental representations (Jonassen, 2003; van Garderen, 2006), poor self-monitoring skills (Day & Connor, 2017; Maccini, McNaughton, & Ruhl, 1999), memory deficits (Day & Connor, 2017; Geary, 2004; Tolar, Lederberg, & Fletcher, 2009), and reading difficulties (Adams, 2003).

With increased emphasis on the use of evidence-based practices to maximize mastery, in this case, of algebraic concepts and skills, it is important to consider the approaches and models for delivery that have been used in the existing research base. The purpose of this study is to identify effective interventions and techniques that can be used for students with special needs in algebra by conducting a meta-analysis of the existing body of research.

Statement of the Problem

Research suggests students often struggle with mastery of algebra, and this is particularly true for students with special needs (Morgan, Farkas, & Wu, 2009). There is limited available research specific to addressing achievement gaps in algebra (Geary, 2003); therefore, it is important to understand the magnitude of the problem at hand.

The Current Study

The purpose of this study is to investigate the overall effectiveness of algebra interventions on students' achievement in mathematics. The study will utilize meta-

analysis on a group of primary studies that individually investigated the effectiveness of algebra interventions on students' mathematics achievement and explored the extent to which this overall effectiveness of interventions was moderated by various studies' characteristics. This analysis will employ similar parameters as previous meta-analyses and aim to capture all relevant studies, analyze them and provide practical discussions about effective interventions for algebra. The gaps in achievement previously mentioned will be addressed in this meta-analysis. Bridging these gaps will aid in the answering of the following research questions:

- 1. What effect have algebra interventions had on students who are struggling or atrisk for algebra failure? It is hypothesized that modes of intervention that utilize technology and peer mentoring will demonstrate larger effects on algebra achievement outcomes than those not including such interventions. In addition, approaches that utilize modeling and schema-based instruction, and CSI will help remedy the difficulty understanding abstract material by demonstrating larger effects than their counterparts. Similarly, it is hypothesized that interventions targeting self-regulation, problem solving skills, and content knowledge will provide support for students requiring additional help.
- 2. What algebra intervention demonstrates the largest effect for students who are struggling or at-risk for algebra failure? It is hypothesized that the most effective intervention technique for students requiring special services will be interventions that implement CSI, target problem solving ability, and employ technology.

14

- 3. What factors moderate the effectiveness of algebra interventions? We hypothesized that multiple factors, including length of intervention, training of interventionists, alignment with NCTM standards, and if follow-up data was collected.
- 4. How have changes in federal and state standards impacted the effect of algebra interventions on student performance? It is hypothesized that changes in standards have increased the necessity of rigorous intervention and improved the effectiveness of interventions on student outcomes.

Definition of Terms

- Algebra "any of various systems or branches of mathematics or logic concerned with the properties and relationships of abstract entities (such as complex numbers, matrices, sets, vectors, groups, rings, or fields) manipulated in symbolic form under operations often analogous to those of arithmetic" (*Meriam-Webster.com*, definition 2)
- Explicit instruction an instructional technique where the students are directly presented the information and are engaged in the learning process. Explicit instruction builds on prior foundation of skills and is planned. Lecturing is an example of explicit instruction. Also known as direct instruction (Strickland & Maccini, 2010).
- Specific Learning Disability (SLD) "a disorder in one or more of the basic psychological processes involved in understanding or in using language that is spoken or written, that may manifest itself in the imperfect ability to listen, think,

speak, read, write, spell, or to do mathematical calculations. The term includes conditions such as perceptual disabilities, brain injury, minimal brain dysfunction, dyslexia, and developmental aphasia; the term does not include a learning problem that is primarily the result of visual, hearing, or motor disabilities, of an intellectual disability, or emotional disturbance, or of environmental, cultural, or economic disadvantage" (IDEA, 2004, section 602, paragraph 30)

- Explicit Inquiry Routine (EIR) an instructional technique that encourages the student to follow explicit, sequential instruction in order to solve a problem while simultaneously trying to develop a deeper conceptualized understanding of the content. This is accomplished through experiential learning and a scaffolded approach (Scheuermann, Deshler, & Schumaker, 2009)
- Cognitive Strategy Instruction (CSI) an instructional technique used to teach students cognitive and metacognitive processes to aid in the solving of problems and completion of tasks (Impecoven-Lind & Foegen, 2010)
- Schema based instruction a method of teaching problem solving that emphasizes both the semantic structure of the problem and its mathematical structure. It utilizes recognition of key words but goes further than simple recognition to stress understanding of the situation represented in the problem (Seel, 2012)

16

Self-regulation – a system of conscious personal management that involves the process of guiding one's own thoughts, behaviors, and feelings to reach goals (Baumeister, Heatherton, & Tice, 1994)

At-risk students – "students or groups of students who are considered to have a higher probability of failing academically or dropping out of school. The term may be applied to students who face circumstances that could jeopardize their ability to complete school, such as homelessness, incarceration, teenage pregnancy, serious health issues, domestic violence, transiency (as in the case of migrant-worker families), or other conditions, or it may refer to learning disabilities, low test scores, disciplinary problems, grade retentions, or other learning-related factors that could adversely affect the educational performance and attainment of some students." (Partnership, 2013,

https://www.edglossary.org/at-risk/).

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (2009) specifically require each meta-analysis to have a thorough description of the previous literature and discussion about how the topic of analysis fits into the current context of the existing literature. The purpose of this chapter is to review the existing literature, identify particular gaps in the algebra intervention literature, and to present research questions to address these gaps.

What is algebra?

The definition of algebra has been fluid and dynamic throughout the years. Many researchers have attempted to pinpoint the definition of this mathematical concept and key to success, but there is difficulty settling on a consensus. Researchers agree on the importance of variables and concepts that integrate variables into the structure of the math (Briggs, Demana, & Osborne, 1986; Graham & Thomas, 2000; Kalchman & Koedinger, 2005; Kieran, 2007). These variables, however, often lead to increased difficulty for many students who misunderstand them. The links between the symbolic nature of the variable and assigning meaning to variables identified are challenges faced by students with special needs (Torigie & Gladding, 2006). Küchemann (1978) developed a model that describes the six progressive phases of variable comprehension: (a) as a single value, through trial and error evaluation; (b) as irrelevant (i.e., students ignoring the variable in a contextual situation); (c) as an object or label; (d) as a specific unknown; (e) as a generalized number; and (f) as a functional relationship.

The NCTM has refined its definition of algebra numerous times. Originally, in 1989, their definition emphasized equations, inequalities, and matrices. In 2000, they reformed algebra by four all-encompassing concepts and skills: (a) functions, (b) algebraic symbols, (c) mathematical modeling, and (d) analyzing change. In a more recent statement by the NCTM (2008), algebra was defined as not only a way of thinking, but also as a set of concepts and skills that facilitate students to generalize, model, and analyze mathematical situations. NMAP (2008) suggested that the instruction and study of algebra be categorized into six primary topics: (a) symbols and expressions, (b) linear equations, (c) quadratic equations, (d) functions, (e) polynomials, and (f) combinatorics and finite probability. For the purposes of this analysis, the NMAP topics will be used to categorize content areas pertaining to algebra. With a greater understanding of how educational reform has impacted the structure and implementation of algebra instruction, it is also important to understand what previous research has demonstrated to be effective interventions and instructional techniques.

Algebra

The inability to master algebraic concepts and skills is a critical step to success in college mathematics courses and a key predictor of high school dropout (Silver, Saunders, & Zarate, 2008); however, many students find themselves underprepared and fail the first time they take higher level algebra courses (Balfanz, McPartland, & Shaw, 2002; Finkelstein, Fong, Tiffany-Morales, Shields, & Huang, 2012; Huang, Snipes, &

Finkelstein, 2014). Failing algebra can lead to considerable negative consequences: only one in five students who take algebra in grade 9 after initially failing it in grade 8 achieve proficiency by the end of grade 9, illustrating that four out of five continue to fail algebra (Finkelstein et al., 2012). Those students not achieving proficiency standards by the end of grade 9 have little chance of completing, much less succeeding in advanced college preparatory mathematics courses by the end of their tenure in high school (Schiller & Muller, 2003; Schiller, Schmidt, Muller, & Houang, 2010; Spielhagen, 2006).

Algebra is considered the gateway skill for higher order mathematics, particularly in the areas of abstract thinking and representing quantities with non-numeric symbols, as it has been proven to be one of the critical concepts to master for future success in mathematics and outside of the classroom (Watt et al., 2016). Fennell (2008) discovered that algebra achievement was an important factor in predicting students' future achievement in math courses, entrance into college, as well as financial equity in the workforce.

The instruction of algebra has undergone a significant transformation over the last decade (Hiebert et al., 2005), with the implementation of the CCSS (2010) and failure to prepare students adequately for future mathematics. The CCSS scope and sequence, which is the prototypical mathematics instruction pathway, places algebraic concepts in the curriculum from kindergarten through the 8th grade and into high school (CCSS, 2010).

20

One of the primary arguments for the reformation of algebra pedagogy has been that the arithmetic-then-algebra approach (i.e., having arithmetic curriculum in elementary grades, followed by formal algebra in secondary grades) does not allow enough time for the student to fully develop his/her algebraic thinking (Kaput 2008; Moses & Cobb, 2001; Schoenfeld, 1995). The implementation of CCSS is aimed to help with this problem while increasing the rigor of the knowledge base for deeper understanding (CCSS, 2010). This led to extensive failure in these realms, as the students were not able to fully develop their skills in these areas and when later mathematics courses required in-depth analysis, the students were unable to perform (Kaput 2008; Moses & Cobb, 2001; Schoenfeld, 1995).

Reformation efforts that began in the early 2000s have yielded a new style of algebra pedagogy, where algebra instruction spans across the Kindergarten through Grade 12 curriculum and allows the students necessary time and experience to comprehend the concepts (e.g., NCTM, 2000, 2006; National Governors Association Center for Best Practices [NGA] & Council of Chief State School Officers [CCSSO], 2010). Due to this shift, research has now provided insights into how children think algebraically and understand algebra. Through this research, we have been able to understand children's capabilities to cultivate a relational understanding of the equal sign (Carpenter, Franke, & Levi, 2003; Carpenter, Levi, Berman, & Pilgge, 2005), notice regularity and patterns among arithmetic situations through generalization of mathematical structures (Bastable & Schifter, 2008; Schifter, Monk, Russell, & Bastable, 2008), use advanced tools to explore, generalize, and symbolize functional relationships (Cooper & Warren, 2011; Moss, Beatty, Shillolo, & Barkin, 2008); build mathematical arguments that reflect more generalized forms than the empirical, casebased reasoning often used (Carpenter et al., 2003; Schifter, 2009); and reason about abstract quantities (e.g., area, length) to symbolize algebraic relationships (Dougherty, 2003, 2008). Research suggests successful performance in algebra requires mastery of (a) basic skills and terminology, (b) problem representation, (c) problem solution, and (d) self-monitoring strategies (Hutchinson, 1987).

Previous Meta-Analyses, Literature Reviews and Systematic Reviews

Several meta-analyses have been conducted and published on algebra interventions and pedagogy. Rakes, Valentine, McGatha, and Ronau (2010) piloted a systematic review and meta-analysis that investigated algebra instruction for students with studies published between the years of 1968 and 2008. Their review located 82 studies, including published and grey literature (e.g., theses and dissertations). Their findings generated five chief approaches to intervention and instructional improvement: (a) technology curricula, (b) nontechnology curricula, (c) instructional strategies, (d) manipulatives, and (e) technology tools with an emphasis on conceptual understanding.

In another meta-analysis, Haas (2005) investigated algebra teaching methods for secondary students. Haas (2005) located 35 published and grey literature sources published between the years 1980 and 2002 and discovered that direct instruction had the largest impact for students who were considered to be high-ability and low-ability, alike. Students who struggle with mathematics, but are not identified with a disability or do not receive an official diagnosis, often portray comparable difficulties with mathematics as those identified with a disability (Haas, 2005). In the past, research has been synthesized to evaluate mathematics research for students with disabilities (Browder, Spooner, Ahlgrim-Delzell, Harris, & Wakeman, 2008; Gersten et al., 2009). While both of these reviews included students with varying ability levels, neither one specifically included students with identified disabilities.

Maccini, McNaughton, and Ruhl (1999) conducted a review of literature that analyzed the effects of different instructional interventions on pre-algebra or algebra achievement of students who had diagnoses of specific learning disabilities (SLD). Despite their search criteria spanning from 1970 to 1996, their search produced six studies that qualified based on their inclusion criteria. These findings support explicit review, orientation to the strategy to be learned, modeling by the teacher, guided practice, feedback and reinforcement, mastery learning, opportunities for independent practice, assessment, and cumulative review and closure as methodologies and interventions that improved algebra performance and achievement.

Steele and Steele (2003) reviewed studies on teaching algebra to students with SLD. Their findings suggested that difficulties in processing, memory, and language were factors in students with SLD struggling in algebra. In their analysis, they noted there is a lack of interventions that are empirically supported for these students and for algebra. While they provided some guidance and suggestions for these approaches to intervention (e.g., teacher directed instruction, self-monitoring, stepwise approaches, mnemonics, and visual representations), there was little scientific evidence to support these claims. Impecoven-Lind and Foegen (2010) published an article that explored two

approaches to intervention (CSI and EIR) and one intervention (class-wide peer tutoring) for students who have SLD and are struggling with algebra; however, they did not provide substantial statistical comparisons and empirically supported data to back these claims.

Another meta-analysis of algebraic interventions was conducted by Hughes, Witzel, Riccomini, Fries, and Kanyongo (2014). The Hughes et al. (2014) meta-analysis was unclear in their methodology, as they did not explicitly report how they located their articles. They mentioned they used major databases, but did not specify which ones in particular they used and only provided examples of major databases. Perhaps the ones listed in their article are the ones they used for gathering articles; however, they did not specify so it cannot be confirmed. Their initial search yielded 168 articles from peerreviewed and non-peer reviewed sources. Their inclusion criteria were clear, as the studies needed to have (a) implemented experimental or quasi-experimental designs, reported on academic outcomes and effect size (ES) or had sufficient information to determine ES, and were published in peer-reviewed journals or as dissertations that (b) included students at-risk and those with disabilities, and (c) were published between the years of 1983 and 2013. After their inclusion criteria, their study utilized 12 articles, but due to lack of information, only eight were able to be used in the weighted analysis. The four studies that were excluded did not provide sufficient information to run the statistical analyses the researchers desired to compute. The study looked at three primary research questions: (a) would targeted instruction (e.g., explicit or direct instruction) or intervention in algebra improve math achievement for students with
disabilities, (b) what are the effects of algebra interventions when aimed at increasing achievement of students who may be at-risk or have a disability, and (c) what is the most effective algebra intervention for students who may be at-risk or have a disability? Their analysis found that students with SLD benefitted from targeted instruction.

Additionally, the interventions used in the studies were effective in improving algebra achievement (Hughes et al., 2014). In their discussion, Hughes and colleagues (2014) mentioned the intervention style with the highest effect size was cognitive/modeling-based instruction, followed by concrete-representational-abstract, followed by technology. The authors noted that technology has the largest independent effect sizes, but due to the limited amount of research, they were unable to conclude that it was the most effective intervention. Some limitations associated with this article included the small number of articles and the fact that the most recent article was published in 2012; their literature base could be updated to see if any new instruction or intervention techniques would impact the results.

The most recent meta-analysis covering algebra interventions was conducted by Watt et al. (2016). Their review produced a total of 15 studies, including five singlesubject design and ten experimental studies; however, these 15 produced different studies than those that were discovered in the Hughes, et al. (2014) meta-analysis, despite their close temporal proximity and similar search criteria. Additionally, the Hughes et al. (2014) article produced some studies that were not included in the Watt et al. (2016) article. Potentially, combining the articles from these two meta-analyses, as well as additional search criteria would increase the number of studies for further study. Watt et al. (2016) did a commendable job describing their search criteria, methodology, and inclusionary criteria for their analysis. Inclusionary criteria for this analysis required the study to include (a) students with a SLD, (b) have algebra content that fell under the specified algebra domains, (c) examine instructional interventions, (d) use an experimental, quasi-experimental, or single-subject design, and (e) been published between 1980 and 2014. Their overall findings suggested the following interventions or pedagogical techniques were found to be effective for teaching students with SLD algebra: (a) concrete-representational-abstract methodology, (b) tutoring, (c) CSI, (d) enhanced anchored instruction, and (e) graphic organizers.

Study	Years	Search Terms Used	Sample Characteristic	Studies Included	General Findings	Missing Components
Maccini, McNaughto n, & Ruhl, 1999	1970- 1996	Algebra and learning disabilities (including other labels, such as learning handicapped, exceptional, and mildly handicapped)	Students with SLD	6	Explicit review, orientation to the strategy to be learned, modeling by the teacher, guided practice, feedback and reinforcement, mastery learning, opportunities for independent practice, assessment, and cumulative review and closure are effective interventions	Limited to SLD, no quality analysis
Haas, 2005	1980- 2002	Not provided	Study conducted at the secondary level with algebra as the focus; experimental design with achievement as an outcome measure; teaching method had to deal with algebra	35	Direct instruction had the largest impact for high and low ability students	Weak methodology, little information on effect size, no publication bias
Rakes et al., 2010	1968- 2008	Algebra, function, equation, expression, quadratic, polynomial, exponent, and rational	Had to target algebra concepts; assess for student achievement; experimental design with comparison group; comparison group had to receive "usual instruction"	82	Identified five areas for instructional improvement: (a) technology curricula, (b) nontechnology curricula, (c) instructional strategies, (d) manipulatives, and (e) technology tools with an emphasis on conceptual understanding	No quality analysis, no publication bias
Hughes et al., 2014	1983- 2013	Algebra, learning disabilities, at-risk, intervention, disabilities	Students at-risk and with disabilities	8	Cognitive/modeling-based instruction yielded highest ES	Weak methodology, no publication bias
Watt et al., 2016	1980- 2014	Algebra, learning disability, learning disorder, math, pre-algebra, and special education	Students with LD	15	CRA, tutoring, EAI, CSI, and graphic organizers are all highly effective techniques	Not limited to SLD, questionable search criteria, no quality analysis

Table 1 Previous Meta-Analyses of Algebra Instruction/Intervention

Notes. SLD = Specific Learning Disability; LD = Learning Disability; CRA = Concrete-Representational-Abstract; EAI = Enhanced Anchored Instruction; CSI = Cognitive Strategy Instruction

Weaknesses of Existing Meta-analyses and Need for a Current Meta-analysis

Prior meta-analyses have provided the field of algebra research important information regarding what works and what does not work when providing algebra interventions for students. Upon researching this area of mathematics and reviewing the existing meta-analyses, there are several areas of need that warrant this study. One of these weaknesses is prior meta-analyses restricted their inclusion criteria to 2014, so there may be additional studies that have not been included and are more recent. There has been a shift in national and state standards for what is expected to be learned in mathematics, so classroom content has changed, and it is believed newer studies will reflect those changes and students' responses. As explained, rates of student failure in algebra continue to remain high (Balfanz, McPartland, & Shaw, 2002; Finkelstein, Fong, Tiffany-Morales, Shields, & Huang, 2012; Huang, Snipes, & Finkelstein, 2014), indicating the interventions discussed in prior meta-analyses are not working to their full potential and there is room for improvement; this meta-analysis aims to identify additional strategies that may help mediate the gap. Second, cursory searches indicate several articles are missing from previous studies. There are suggestions of publication bias when looking at prior meta-analyses with similar methodology and inconsistent findings and inclusion of articles. Third, the methodology of prior studies does not consistently align with more recent meta-analytic standards. Finally, there have been minimal components of quality analysis included in the prior studies.

One weakness in particular is the lack of rigor in the methodology of the search for some of the previous meta-analyses. Ambiguous, or weak, methods may have impacted the ability of the authors to locate and include all of the work available in the field, which has some implications for publication bias. External standards of metaanalysis require certain criteria to be included (PRISMA, 2009). Notably, Hughes et al. (2014) did not follow all the criteria, nor did Haas (2005). They did not explicitly state how they retrieved the articles used in their analysis, so it is possible additional relevant articles were not used. In the Haas (2005) meta-analysis, several important features of a good systematic review were missing (e.g., no rationale for inclusion criteria and limited information about ensuring the reliability of data extraction). Haas (2005) did not explain the methodology for calculating the ES, did not account for non-independent observations, and did not investigate publication bias. Previous meta-analyses have located articles limiting the search criteria to individuals who are currently diagnosed with SLD or some other variation of a diagnosis, thus eliminating those who do not have a diagnosis and are still at-risk for developing mathematics problems. While there is no widely accepted definition of "at-risk," this population continues to be studied and is excluded from the previous meta-analyses. Watt et al. (2016) and Hughes et al. (2014), while written only two years apart, utilized similar search timeframes and similar inclusion criteria, but yielded different studies. This poses the threat that they may not have retrieved all the relevant studies.

While there is some consensus about intervention techniques that have proved to be effective for algebra, there are various ideologies and theories about the derivation of algebraic misunderstanding and where the underperformance originates. Several of these propositions are discussed in the following paragraphs, including: the arithmetic to algebra gap, deficits in modeling and schemas, problem solving challenges, and trouble self-regulating.

Identification of the Problem

Arithmetic to Algebra Gap

Witzel, Smith, and Brownell (2001) discussed a concept referred to as the arithmetic to algebra gap. The arithmetic to algebra gap is believed to be one of the contributing causes in poor algebra performance in students, particularly in students with disabilities. This gap analyzes the differences in the concreteness of arithmetic and the abstract concepts that come into play when introducing algebra. Miles and Forcht (1995) as well as Vogel (2008) explained many students, both with and without SLD, demonstrated problems when they first experienced algebraic concepts due to the abstract or symbolic nature of the field and reasoning involved. Often times this is the first encounter they have with abstract reasoning and problem solving. Witzel et al. (2001) provided a series of remedies teachers could utilize. They included (a) teaching through stories that connected the instruction to real life; (b) assessing for necessary prerequisite knowledge prior to introducing foreign concepts; and (c) using explicit instruction when modeling. Understanding the core components of algebra, researchers are better able to develop, and teachers or tutors are better able to implement effective interventions. Over the years, several researchers have attempted to synthesize and analyze these interventions on a large-scale basis. These studies have largely analyzed different pedagogical interventions and requisite skills needed for algebra competence.

Modeling and Schema

Research supports the notion schema-based instruction can improve the problemsolving skills of students with SLD (Jitendra, Griffin, Deatline-Buchman, & Sczesniak 2007). Schema based instruction is "a method of teaching problem solving that emphasizes both the semantic structure of the problem and its mathematical structure. It utilizes recognition of key words but goes further than simple recognition to stress understanding of the situation represented in the problem" (Seel, 2012, p. 2945).

Schema-based instruction and modeling often parallel one another in a sense that schema-based instruction allows the student to create a mental representation of the problem and modeling allows the student to create both mental representations and physical products (e.g., charts, diagrams, projects; Seel, 2012). An area students with SLD struggle in is modeling. Modeling the problem situation requires mentally arranging the information presented in the word problem, or any other problem that requires this skill, and fabricating mental representations of the situation. Modeling has been shown to be an effective approach to intervention in a variety of mathematics subjects, including algebra (Blanton, et al., 2015).

Mathematical solutions are typically derived from the mental representation, so the ability to manufacture the representation of the problem affects the likelihood of accuracy for the problem (Jonassen, 2003). Students with SLD have more challenges with generating mental representations (van Garderen, 2006) and even if one is formed, research shows it is more likely to be a visual image of the problem, rather than a schematic representation that models the relationships among the problem elements (van Garderen, 2006; van Garderen & Montague, 2003). This poses complications for the student because, in word problems, students who utilize schematic representations are more successful in arriving at the correct answer than those who do not use schematic representation (Hegarty & Kozhevnikov, 1999; Lesh & Harel, 2003). The implementation of schematic and modeling skills is often found in situations in which students' need to solve a problem (e.g., 2x + y = 25). Deficits in these areas correlate with challenges in problem solving abilities (van Garderen, 2006). Word problem solving is not the only area where a schema-based approach is validated; it has been shown to be effective in algebra as well, specifically in quadratic equation solving (Lopez, Robles, & Martinez-Planell, 2016). In this study, improved outcomes were found in students who utilized a three-stage schema approach to understand and solve quadratic equations.

Problem Solving

One particular area that recent research has addressed looks into the realm of problem-solving ability (Jitendra, DiPipi, & Perron-Jones, 2002). As mentioned before, the increased rigor of standardized assessments and desired learning outcomes, has pioneered the shift from regurgitation and rote memorization of facts to more intensive problem-solving approaches and questions. While this broadband term of problem solving relates to many mathematics fields, algebra in particular utilizes problem solving ability (Hutchinson, 1987). As students' progress through the educational system and enter into secondary education, this shift becomes even more apparent as schools attempt to generate more "real-world" applications of mathematics. With this introduction of higher-level mathematics and challenging topics, word problems and problem-solving approaches that require higher order thinking skills become more obvious (Jitendra, DiPipi, & Perron-Jones, 2002).

Despite the increased prevalence of difficulty implementing effective problemsolving techniques, this remains an area of difficulty for an extensive number of students (Verschaffel et al., 2000), especially those who struggle with learning disabilities (Bryant, Bryant, & Hammill, 2000). Many students fail the first time they take higher level algebra courses (Balfanz, McPartland, & Shaw, 2002; Finkelstein et al., 2012; Huang, Snipes, & Finkelstein, 2014). Only one in five students who take algebra in grade 9 after initially failing it in grade 8 achieve proficiency by the end of grade 9. Those students not achieving proficiency standards by the end of grade 9 have little chance of completing, much less succeeding in advanced college preparatory mathematics courses by the end of their tenure in high school (Schiller & Muller, 2003; Spielhagen, 2006; Schiller, Schmidt, Muller, & Houang, 2010). A high prevalence of students with SLD struggle in problem-solving skills and higher-order reasoning, skills that are necessary for higher-level mathematics courses (e.g., algebra; Bryant, Bryant, & Hammill, 2000; Tolar et al., 2012; Verschaffel, Greer, & De Corte, 2000).

The NCTM (2000) endorsed the idea that fluency in mental computation of basic number skills is critical to efficient problem-solving processes. Fluency helps free up cognitive space, which leads to more efficient problem solving. These approaches can be even more challenging for individuals with disabilities, as they have a difficult time generalizing their learning to settings different from the framework in which they originally learned those skills (Binder, 1996; DuVall, McLaughlin, & Senderstrom, 2003; Heward, 2006). Realistically, these problems with fluency are addressed through the use of technology (e.g., calculators) which falls under the category of technology that will be coded for in this analysis. Perhaps this increased struggle stems from the cognitive processing deficits that underlie the SLD and how these deficits map onto critical skills that are necessary for problem solving to occur (Fuchs et al., 2004).

Mathematics is a language that consists of special symbols and terms that are unique to its field and possess meaningful affiliations with related terms (Duru & Koklu, 2011). Mathematical reading requires both linguistic comprehension skills and knowledge of mathematics linguistics, which consists of letters and symbols (Adams, 2003). There are prominent links between reading comprehension and word problem solving ability (Boonen, van der Schoot, van Wesel, de Vries, & Jolles, 2013; Vilenius-Tuohimaa, Aunola, & Nurm, 2008) as well as algebra (Adams, 2003). In a field in which symbols are used to represent alternative meanings, often times algebraic equations are treated as a sentence (Duru & Kolku, 2011). Many students who have a learning disability also encounter challenges in reading comprehension, potentially offering another explanation for the high occurrence of students with SLD having difficulty in problem solving. When tackling a word problem, the student must first comprehend the problem, then form a mental model of the problem situation, and finally, analyze the information on the grounds of that particular model that has been generated (Hegarty & Kozhevnikov, 1999; Lesh & Harel, 2003; van Garderen, 2006).

34

Self-Regulation

Two primary self-regulated learning (SRL) processes that facilitate academic success are: (a) monitoring and (b) self-reflection (Bol, Riggs, Hacker, Dickerson, & Nunnery, 2010). Monitoring, defined as the mental tracking of one's performance processes and outcomes, permits individuals to evaluate shifting task demands, focus awareness on their mistakes, and generate internal feedback (Zimmerman & Moylan, 2009). Self-reflection, when learners judge their performance and react to these judgments, helps individuals interpret feedback, learn from their mistakes, and make decisions that enhance subsequent learning and performance (Zimmerman, 2000). In an academic setting, when a student does not possess appropriate monitoring and reflection skills, their ability to regulate themselves and make adaptive decisions during academic pursuits is stalled (Dunlosky & Rawson, 2012; Hacker, Bol, & Keener, 2008).

Research shows students who are able to self-regulate their learning processes effectively have a better chance of succeeding academically (DiGiacomo & Chen, 2016; Dignath, Buettner, & Langfeldt, 2008). Self-regulation strategies have been shown to improve mathematics problem-solving ability in individuals who have specific learning disabilities in mathematics (Case, Harris, & Graham, 1992; Cassel & Reid, 1996). Selfregulation plays an important role in being able to translate the skills learned in the intervention phase to maintenance phase so the student is able to continue the success he or she observes during the intervention (Gersten et al., 2008). As research has shown, math skills deficits that are not remedied at early stages manifest themselves into continuing, if not more intense, challenges in the future (Axtell et al., 2009; Duncan et al., 2007; Haring & Eaton, 1978; Ketterlin-Geller et al., 2008). Similar ideologies exist in the field of algebra, explaining that early difficulties in algebra predict future mathematics difficulties (Fennell, 2008; Watt et al., 2016).

This has been explained by a variety of researchers (Balfanz, McPartland, & Shaw, 2002; Finkelstein, Fong, Tiffany-Morales, Shields, & Huang, 2012; Huang, Snipes, & Finkelstein, 2014) one of which demonstrated 80% of the students who failed algebra I did not meet the proficiency standards by the end of high school (Finkelstein, et al., 2014). In order to mediate these negative factors associated with poor algebra performance, intervention efforts have targeted specific areas to identify and clarify the root of these difficulties.

Summary

Several areas have been identified that need additional research and analysis specific to algebra interventions. Following up Hughes et al. (2014) and expanding the literature with more recent studies, addressing fidelity of the interventions, locating studies that provide information on the maintenance of the intervention, and running a funnel plot analysis to check for publication bias will add to the research base. Expanding the literature is a task that will aid in determining a more reliable conclusion to further advance the current knowledge base of algebra interventions. As addressed previously in this chapter, there is a need for continuing research in secondary mathematics classrooms, not just algebra. The Haas (2005) meta-analysis revealed little research has been conducted specifically addressing algebra instructional techniques and interventions for students with identified disabilities. This meta-analysis will look at research studies pertaining to this group of individuals in order to present the research community with more detailed evidence about how to implement effective interventions for this population. In their analysis, Steele and Steele (2003) explained the lack of interventions that are empirically supported for these students and for algebra.

CHAPTER III METHODS

The purpose of this study is to investigate the overall effectiveness of algebra interventions on students' achievement in mathematics. The study utilized meta-analysis on a group of primary studies that individually investigated the effectiveness of algebra interventions on students' mathematics achievement and explored the extent to which this overall effectiveness of interventions was moderated by various studies' characteristics. Typically, a meta-analysis includes the following: (a) decide on the area of interest to be studied and defines the association to be analyzed; (b) identification of the dependent variables and the characteristics of the study that will be analyzed; (c) operationally define all variables to be included in the study; (d) a decision about the inclusion criteria is made by the researcher; (e) studies that meet the inclusion criteria are then located by the researcher; (f) the studies are coded; (g) effect sizes are computed from the studies by converting the statistics provided in the articles; (h) the average effect size is calculated and determined to be significantly different from zero or not; (i) the independent studies are occasionally examined by the researcher to determine if the degree and direction for the effect sizes is consistent across studies; and (j) if any sources of variation arise, the researcher then attempts to explain any sources of variation or heterogeneity (Glass, 1976; Houston et al., 1983; Rosenthal & Rubin, 1986; Wolf, 1986).

38

The current study applied the meta-analytic procedure supported by Glass (1976), Cohen and Dacanay (1992), Kulik et al. (1980) and Azvedo and Bernard (1995). This method required the researcher locate studies, define study features, code the characteristics of the studies, calculate effect sizes, find the mean effect size, and explain sources of error variance. Previous meta-analyses included approximately 20 studies in their sample size; therefore, this study aimed to include at least 20 as well.

Location and Selection of Studies

Initial studies were located through a combination of electronic and ancestral searches. An ancestral search consists of examining the reference list of cited articles in a paper for the purpose of locating additional studies to include. Online search engines (e.g., What Works Clearinghouse, dyscalculia.org), dissertation/thesis abstracts, electronic journals and research databases will include JSTOR, EBSCO, Academic Search Ultimate, Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC), PSYC INFO, Education Full Text, ProQuest, and Google Scholar were searched using combinations of the following key words: *algebra, algebra education, intervention, math, mathematics, math disability, instruction, cognitive strategy instruction, explicit inquiry routine, schema-based instruction, modeling, technology, graphic organizer, learning disability, learning problem, special needs, disability, special education, and at-risk.* A total of 188 citations were identified in the initial search. Appendix B displays the flow in which these articles were located.

These studies were screened to meet identified inclusion criteria. In order to be included in the meta-analysis, the study must have been published between 1975 and

2018. These dates were selected because in 1975 IDEA was enacted by the United States Congress, which implemented the idea of special education and receiving special services for those struggling academically. Studies for this meta-analysis must include students enrolled in a Kindergarten through 12th grade classroom. Early meta-analyses on similar topics did not include the entirety of K-12, but more recent meta-analyses utilized the totality of the grade levels. Additionally, the study must have implemented an experimental or quasi-experimental design. Single case or single subject designs were included in this meta-analysis due to the commonality of this body of research for educational interventions. The study needed to provide sufficient information to calculate effect size or information needed was made available through contact with the corresponding author. The study had to be published in a peer-reviewed journal or as a dissertation and be available in English. Finally, the studies had to include an intervention addressing algebra skills that included academic dependent variables. For the purposes of this analysis, algebra skills will include the standards endorsed by the NCTM, which can be found at http://www.nctm.org/Standards-and-Positions/Principlesand-Standards/Algebra/ (See Appendix C).

Factor	Inclusion	Exclusion				
Type of Publication	Refereed Journal Article	Literature Review				
	Dissertation	Position Paper				
Study Design	Single Subject	Qualitative Only				
	Randomized Control					
	Group					
	Pre-Post Design					

Table 2 Inclusion and Exclusion Factors

Table 2 continued

Factor	Inclusion	Exclusion		
Study Population	Students must be classified	Not classified as a K-12		
	as at-risk or struggling	student		
	with algebra	No mathematical deficits		
Intervention Focus	Algebra skills (NCTM)	Other math skills but not		
		algebra		
Outcome Measure	Math achievement	Teacher report or another		
	(standardized or CBM)	qualitative indicator only		
Data Available	Effect size for design or	Insufficient data and not		
	sufficient data to compute	able to obtain data from		
	in the article or from the			
	author			
	Written in English			

Screening and Coding of Studies

Preliminary Screening.

In this initial phase, each article was screened to ensure it met the inclusion criteria in Table 3. Studies where the only issue may be obtaining additional information from the authors, the study was initially retained. All retained studies will advance to the second phase and be coded for inclusion in the study. See the coding sheet in Appendix A.

As suggested by Wolf (1986), the initial studies in this meta-analysis were coded to clarify the different sources of error variance (i.e., grade level, specific type of algebra skills, type of intervention). The study utilized a variety of independent variables to account for sources of error variance including: type of publication; location of the intervention; type of intervention (modeling and schema; problem solving skills; selfregulation; technology; explicit instruction; guided practice; feedback and reinforcement; peer tutoring; cognitive strategy instruction; concrete-representationalabstract; enhanced anchored instruction; and graphic organizers) study design, evaluation method, educational level, length of intervention, number of sessions, duration of each session, presence and type of disability, and sex. The final phase of the study involved calculation of the effect sizes.

In addition to the independent variables, the quality of studies is an important characteristic that informs the reliability of the finding. The articles selected for analysis were coded for quality according to the What Works Clearinghouse Procedures and Standards Handbook (WWCPSH) Version 3.0. Quality indicators looked at the randomization of samples, accuracy and relevance of intervention descriptions, and how well variables were measured. Consideration of quality (rigor) of the study was considered as an additional confounding variable, a possible source of error variance. Study quality considered recruitment of subjects, randomization of subjects, demographic data of subjects, who implemented the intervention, intervention characteristics, fidelity checks (i.e., was the intervention implemented as designed), and reliability of the measurement method.

Initially, the coding process was checked by comparing the doctoral student (JM) and a faculty member (CR) coding results on some studies and coding terms clarified. Inter-rater reliability of the coding was addressed by having 30% of the included studies coded independently by another graduate student, who has a graduate degree and background in Psychology. All parties who participated in coding participated in a training seminar. Training included a review of the coding sheet, and then a practice coding session that lasted 15 minutes. Each coder received three test articles and coded the articles according to the coding sheet. These were checked by the author of this dissertation. If 80% agreement on these test articles was not achieved, additional training was provided until agreement was met and the coding sheet was clarified as needed. Only then was the coder given 30% of the final studies that were randomly selected and independently coded.

Planned Analyses

There are three common goals of data analysis when conducting a meta-analysis: (a) to obtain an index that measures the overall effect size for a group of studies, (b) to determine whether the studies are homogeneous, and (c) to identify sources of heterogeneity if the studies are found not to be homogeneous (Huedo-Medina, Sánchez-Mecca, & Marin-Martinez, 2006). Additionally, meta-regression can be used to examine potential confounds. A random-effects model was utilized to allow for within-study and between-study variation.

There are three types of designs included in this study: single subject, single group pre- post-test, and group designs. Each of these used a different effect size (see Table 4). There are two primary schools of thought for combining effect sizes when dealing with meta-analyses. One method, utilized by Hedges and Stock (1983) and Slavin (1984), involves the researcher combining all the effect sizes from a single study and using one value for the analysis. The second method consists of extracting multiple effect sizes from each study (based on the number of comparisons of interest) and using each effect size in the meta-analysis. A core reason for implementing this approach stems from the work by researchers (e.g.; Ahmad and Shashaani, 1994; Glass et al.,

1981; Kulik & Kulik, 1991) who have contended that too much information is lost when effect sizes are combined using the first method described. The second method was used in the present study. With no empirically supported metric for converting and comparing these different effect sizes, this analysis did not combine all effect sizes, but rather interpreted them by the effect size used.

Study Design	Effect Size Calculated
Single Case	Tau-U
Single group pre-/post-test	Cohen's d
Group design	Hedges' g

Table 3 Effect Sizes by Research Design

Effect Size – Single Case Study

Due to the variety of study designs included, for this study, multiple effect sizes were calculated. When analyzing single case studies, the effect sizes calculated were *Tau-U* and Baseline Corrected *Tau. Tau-U* is a statistical technique that combines nonoverlap between phases with trend from within the intervention phase (Parker, Vannest, Davis, & Sauber, 2011). This technique, while new, was tested over a series of 382 studies involving AB and ABA single-case designs and performed well as compared to other statistical techniques (Parker et al., 2011). Baseline Corrected Tau utilizes a two-step, nonparametric method to address the problems of baseline trend in AB designs. First, the monotonic baseline trend is estimated, and corrected using Kendall's *Tau* rank if needed. If the baseline trend is statistically significant, then it may be corrected across A and B phases using the Theil-Sen estimator. Secondly, using a dummy code variable (where A phase=0 and B phase=1), an effect size is calculated as a *Tau* correlation between the dummy code and the original or corrected data (Tarlow, 2017).

Effect Size Two-Group Design

For two-group designs, Hedges' g was calculated as the effect size rather than Cohen's d. For smaller sample sizes (n<20), Hedges' g offers a more reliable effect size, whereas for sample sizes greater than 20, both statistics are believed to be equally effective (Ellis, 2010). With the classroom being the anticipated location of intervention implementation for many of the studies in this meta-analysis, sample sizes are expected to be smaller than 20, which is why Hedges' g will be used. Calculations and data analysis for this study were conducted using R Version 4.0.2, a statistical software program developed for statistical and data analysis. The researcher has prior experience with this statistical program and there are pre-existing codes for meta-analyses to help expedite the analytical process. When calculating Hedges' g, the difference between the means is divided by the pooled and weighted standard deviation (Hedges' & Olkin, 1985). Since Hedges' g is a correction of Cohen's d, we provided the formulas below for calculating Cohen's d (Borenstein, Hedges', Higgins, & Rothstein, 2011).

Cohen's
$$d = \frac{M_1 - M_2}{SD_{pooled}^*}$$

M1 - M2 is the differences in means and $SD^*pooled$ is the pooled and weighted standard deviation. This statistic yields a reliable effect size for smaller, classroom-sized populations.

$$S * pooled = \sqrt{\frac{(n_1 - 1)s_1^2 + (n_2 - 1)s_2^2}{(n_1 - 1) + (n_2 - 1)}}$$

The following formula is how Hedges' g was calculated for the purposes of this paper:

Hedges'
$$g = c(m)d$$

where c(m) is the biased correction of the overestimated *d* value in larger samples. This statistic yields an unbiased effect size for smaller, classroom-sized populations.

$$c(m) = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{m}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\frac{m}{2}}\Gamma\frac{(m-1)}{2}} \approx 1 - \frac{3}{4m-1} : m = n^T + n^C - 2$$

The following correction formula was used to convert d to Hedges' g to avoid overestimation (Borenstein et al., 2011):

.....

$$J = 1 - \frac{3}{4df - 1}$$

Effect Size Single Group Studies

Single group studies that have pre- and post-analyses were not excluded; they served as their own control group. For single group designs with pre- and post-test scores, Cohen's d was used with the following formulas where r is the pre-post test correlation (Borenstein, Hedges', Higgins, & Rothstein, 2011).

Cohen's
$$d = \frac{Y_{post} - Y_{pre}}{S_{within}} = \frac{\sqrt{2(1-r)} (Y_{post} - Y_{pre})}{S_{gain}}$$

 S_{within} is the mean difference between gain scores of the pre- and post-test. This statistic yields a reliable effect size for smaller, classroom-sized populations.

$$S_{within} = \frac{S_{gain}}{\sqrt{2(1-r)}}$$

Heterogeneity in Effect Sizes

Heterogeneity across studies was examined in several ways. First, we examined overall heterogeneity for each outcome by calculating the Q statistics, I^2 statistics, τ^2 , and interpreting forest plots. We reported summary effect sizes along with 95% confidence intervals and estimates of τ^2 and I^2 , which we computed using the *metafor* package in R (Möbius, 2014; R Version 4.0.2). Moderator analyses also were conducted to explore potential causes of systematic variance using the *metafor* package for R (Viechtbauer, 2010). When estimating values in R, we utilized the Restricted Maximum Likelihood (REML). We chose to use REML as the method for calculating heterogeneity estimates using meta-regressions in an attempt to avoid over-estimating the heterogeneity variance accounted for by the model.

The Q statistic is the weighted sum of square deviations from the mean effect size. It is computed by multiplying each study's squared deviation from the mean by its inverse variance weight, and then summing those values (Borenstein et al., 2011). The Qstatistic can be difficult to interpret; it is a sum and is impacted by the number of studies. A statistically significant p-value for the Q statistic does provide evidence that true effects appear to vary across studies; however, a non-statistically significant p-value does not mean heterogeneity is low; it may simply be a small number of studies are included or within-study variance is large (Borenstein et al., 2011).

It I^2 statistic helps understand what proportion of the observed variance explains real differences in effect sizes (Borenstein et al., 2011). I^2 has a range of 0-100%; values of approximately 25% are considered low, whereas 50% might be considered moderate and 75% may be considered high. I^2 values of 100% indicate only most of the observed variance is likely to be true variance rather than spurious variance; high values do not mean heterogeneity is high nor do low values mean between study variation is low (Borenstein et al., 2011).

Publication Bias

To detect any publication bias, a funnel plot analysis was used for each of the design types. A funnel plot analysis is a scatter plot of individual studies, sometimes their precision, and results. The *y*-axis represents the standard error and studies with higher power are placed towards the top of the funnel plot. The *x*-axis represents the results of the study. If the funnel plot appears asymmetrical, then the likelihood of publication bias is higher than if the funnel plot is symmetrical. The method for generating the funnel plot involves writing code in the statistical program *R*. This methodology was specifically geared for meta-analyses and has the ability to work with both group and single-case designs together through a funnel plot. A Trim-and-Fill method will be applied as well as Egger's Regression Test and the Fail-safe N methodology. Running multiple publication bias will help account for error due to small sample sizes.

Meta-regression

In order to consider the extent to which moderator variables affect the effect size, meta-regression techniques will be employed. Meta-regression assesses the relationships between a dependent variable and one, or more, of predictor variables (Borenstien et al., 2009). There are several meta-regression techniques that could be used: simple regression, fixed-effect, and mixed-effects (Borenstein et al., 2011). For the purposes of this study, a random-effects model was utilized to allow for within-study and betweenstudy variation. In particular, each of the 12 intervention types were analyzed, as well as several moderators including: training of the interventionist, length of the intervention, alignment to NCTM standards, and follow-up data.

We used *Q*-tests and goodness of fit tests to test our models. The *Q* statistic is the weighted sum of squares and reflects the total variability of studies. For a fixed effect model, the *Q*-test partitions *Q* into its component parts, $Q_{resid}(Q_R)$ and $Q_{model}(Q_M)$ such that Q_R and Q_M are additive; however, for a random effects model, the weights assigned for each study incorporate between study variance; thus, the variance components are not additive for the random effects model (Borenstein et al., 2009). The random effects model assumes that for any value of a moderator, there is a distribution of true slope coefficients and the true coefficient depends on the subgroup of the population; the slope coefficient (B) found for each moderator is assumed to be the mean, not the "true" coefficient (Borenstein et al., 2009).

For each moderator examined we present the results of the Q test and the goodness of fit test, which produced a Q_M and a Q_R that indicate between-study

variability and within-study variability respectively. For the Q test, we examine if the pvalue that corresponds to Q_M is statistically significant at alpha = .05. For the goodness of fit test, we examine Q_R , and its corresponding p value, as well as τ^2 , to examine heterogeneity not explained by the model. In this context, τ^2 refers to the estimated population value of between-studies variance. We also examine I^2 , which in the context of random effects meta-regression, refers to the proportion of the unexplained variance that is likely true variance as opposed to error. We also examine R^2 , the proportion of the variance that is explained by the model.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

The planned analyses describe in Chapter III were completed. For the 30% of studies that were coded by two coders, overall interrater reliability was acceptable at 95%. All effect sizes were computed such that a positive value indicates improvement for the treatment group. Initial considerations were for heterogeneity. Heterogeneity across studies was examined by calculating the Q statistics, I^2 statistics, and interpreting forest plots. Moderator analyses also were conducted to explore potential associations with any systematic variance impacting the effectiveness of algebra intervention. Study quality and increased adherence to national standards (i.e., Common Core) were examined as a continuous moderator following the testing of hypotheses. The following sections present the results. Figure 1 shows the PRISMA flow diagram of studies and how we arrived at the 38 coded studies used in this meta-analysis.

Figure 1 PRISMA Flow Diagram



Heterogeneity Analyses

Heterogeneity across studies was examined by calculating the Q statistics, I^2 statistics, the estimate of the between-studies variance component (τ^2) and interpreting forest plots. The Q statistics, I^2 statistics, τ^2 estimates were computed using the rma

function in the metafor package for R. Moderator analyses were also conducted to explore potential causes of systematic variance using the rma function in the *metafor* package for R (Viechtbauer, 2010).

Heterogeneity of Intervention Results

Results are presented first for effect sizes at post-intervention. Table 3 provides an overview of relevant statistics for examining heterogeneity at post-intervention.

Table 4 Effect Sizes of Intervention								
Outcome	k	Hedges'	95% CI		t	τ^2	Q	I^2
variable		g/Tau-U						
Algebra Skills	20	0.93***	0.76	1.11	0	0	0.89	0.00%
Single Case		(Tau-U)						
Algebra Skills	18	0.71***	0.50	0.93	0.37	0.14	55.41	74.34%
Group Design		(Hedges' g)						

Table 4 Effect Sizes of Intervention

Note. * statistically significant at p < .05; ** statistically significant at p < .01; *** statistically significant at p < .001, k is the number of studies included in the analysis.

Heterogeneity for Algebra Skills Intervention

The individual study effect sizes for algebra skills at post-intervention are reported in the forest plots seen in Figure 2 and Figure 3. As seen in Table 4, the Q

statistic for single case studies was statistically significant, Q(19) = 0.89, p = <.0001.

This result, combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of the effect

sizes ($\tau^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra

interventions have small levels of heterogeneity. The *Q* statistic for group design studies was also statistically significant, *Q* (17) =55.41, *p* = <.0001. This result, combined with examining the *I*² statistic (74.34%) and the variance of the effect sizes ($\tau^2 = 0.14$) together suggest the effect sizes for algebra interventions with group designs have high levels of heterogeneity. Overall, both study designs produced statistically significant effects; however, data should be interpreted with caution due to higher levels of heterogeneity within the group design studies. Visual analysis of Figure 2 notes consistent effect sizes and confidence intervals across studies. Visual analysis of Figure 3 shows more variability across studies. One particular study to note is Study 7 which demonstrated a large effect of *g* = 2.28. Quality analysis will be discussed in future sections, but it is important to note this study received a quality score near the lower threshold out of the included studies. Perhaps the diminished quality of the study impacted the higher level of effect sizes.

Figure 2 Algebra Skills Post-Intervention Forest Plot for Single Case Studies



Figure 3 Algebra Skills Post-Intervention Forest Plot for Group Design Studies



Analyses of Publication Bias

We examined publication bias by conducting several analyses including: Egger's Regression Test, a Trim-and-Fill investigation and a Fail-safe N calculation. Overall results were not indicative of publication bias; however, due to small sample size, these results should be interpreted with caution. Egger's regression test is a sensitivity analysis that essentially assesses for the slope of the regression line with a Z-score. Typically, we expect the slope of that line to be zero, and statistically significant results indicate plot asymmetry. Results yielded a Z-score of 3.09 with a *p-value* = .0020 for group designs and a Z-score of 0.11 with a *p-value* = .91 for single case designs, thus indicating plot symmetry for single case studies; however, there is evidence of publication bias in group designs.

A Trim-and-Fill investigation was conducted to further assess the possibility of publication bias. The Trim-and-Fill method is an iterative approach that assesses asymmetry and re-estimates the mean effect size while creating a new funnel plot. This is accomplished by removing smaller studies that may be responsible for asymmetry. Both left and right sides are imputed during the analysis. The Trim-and-Fill method for group design studies yielded a significant point estimate of 0.71. The calculation estimated the number of missing studies on the left side to be 0. For single case design studies, the Trim-and-Fill method yielded a significant point estimate of 0.93. The calculation estimated the number of missing studies on the left side to be 1. These results, shown in Figure 4 and Figure 5, are indicative of plot symmetry and minimal publication bias.



Figure 4 Trim-and-Fill Plot for Single Case Studies

Figure 5 Trim-and-Fill Plot for Group Design Studies



A final sensitivity analysis was conducted to address the likelihood of publication bias. A Fail-safe N analysis was computed to determine how many additional studies would need to make a statistically significant result become non-statistically significant. The results from the single case study investigation yielded a Fail-safe N of 787 to reach a significance p-value level of 0.05 and the group design study investigation yielded a Fail-safe N of 1000 to reach the same level of significance. This data provides evidence of minimal publication bias.

Research Question 1

Research question 1 asked: what effect have algebra interventions had on students who are struggling or at-risk for algebra failure? We analyzed this by calculating the average weighted effect size for all coded studies, while separating them by study design. They were separated by study design because it is not best practice to compare effect sizes from group designs to single case designs. It was hypothesized modes of intervention that utilize technology and peer mentoring would demonstrate large gains than those not including such interventions. In addition, approaches that utilize modeling and schema-based instruction, and CSI will help remedy the difficulty understanding abstract material by demonstrating larger effects than its counterparts. Similarly, it is hypothesized that interventions which target self-regulation, problem solving skills, and content knowledge will provide support for students requiring additional help. We hypothesized that overall, interventions would produce a medium to large effect in improving algebra performance, as defined using Cohen's conventions (1988) and Tau-U research.

Tau-U effect size scores can be interpreted as follows: <0.20 = small change, 0.20 to 0.60 = moderate change, 0.60 to 0.80 = large change, and >0.80 = large to very large change (Vannest & Ninci, 2015). We tested this hypothesis by calculating the summary effect size statistics for all included studies, using a random effects model, using the metafor package in R. The hypothesis for research question 1 was supported in that both group study designs and single case designs produced moderate to large effects when considering Cohen's conventions (1988) and Tau-U standards. It is important to note the data set used in this analysis were unbalanced, which made it challenging to analyze moderators. There were several coded studies that implemented multiple types of intervention, which led to some interventions being used with high frequency, and others being used at low frequency. This caused the data to be highly unbalanced. Additionally, since the coded studies had to be separated by design (i.e., single case and group design), there were small sample sizes (n=18 and n=20). It is also important to note Tau-U is a bounded variable and operates within the interval of -1 to +1, thus creating more limitations on analyses.

The mean effect sizes at post-intervention for each type of study design, are presented in Table 3. The mean effect size for single case designs (Tau-U = 0.94, 95% CI, [0.76, 1.11], p = <.0001) and the mean effect size for group designs (g = 0.71, 95% CI, [0.50; 0.93], p < .0001) are both considered large or better by Cohen's conventions (1988) and Tau-U research. For the purposes of this study, our interest lies, not in the statistical significance of the effect sizes, but rather the magnitude of the effect sizes and our interpretation of the practical significance of these effect sizes. Regardless of what alpha is set at, Hedges' *g* and Tau-U and the 95% confidence interval around each effect size remains the same and this information is what we weigh most heavily in our interpretation of the mean effect sizes.

As mentioned previously, effect size conventions must be used with caution (Durlak, 2009; Thompson, 2002). Durlak (2009) recommends interpreting effect sizes in the context of the larger literature as well as for the clinical meaningfulness of the effect. These standardized mean difference effect sizes and non-parametric effect sizes produced in this research are similar to previous meta-analyses.

Research Question 2

Research question 2 asked: do different types of interventions have stronger effects? Our results are described in the following section. It is hypothesized the most effective intervention technique for students requiring special services will be approaches that implement CSI, interventions that target problem solving ability, and intervention modes that employ technology.

To answer this question, we employed a meta-regression of each intervention and compared the difference between the mean effect size of the coded studies not including that intervention to the studies that included the specific intervention. This provided us information regarding the impact of the intervention. It is important to note the various limitations that come with this methodology. First, the data collected in this study were
determined to be unbalanced. Due to the unbalanced nature of the data, moderator analyses were difficult to conduct. Secondly, the researcher understands a multivariate approach would be more aligned with the provided variables; however, given the imbalance of the data, there was no guarantee a multivariate analysis would have produced more accurate results. Each moderator had to be separated and ran independently because of the unbalanced data. This separation created individual null hypotheses which computed its own point estimate. Comparing these point estimates is considered a limitation because as we compared one null hypothesis significance test to another, we, in turn, generated a new null hypothesis significance test.

Second, a network meta-analysis may have fit the nature of the study more effectively; however, similar to the multivariate discussion, there was no guarantee the unbalanced data would have provided accurate and reliable information through the network meta-analysis. As a result, the researcher elected to analyze the differences between each intervention technique and the mean effect size of the other studies not including the intervention, which provides at least minimal information regarding the effectiveness of each intervention. This methodology makes it challenging to compare various intervention styles to one another, so the information in this section should be interpreted with these limitations in mind.

Table 4 presents the mixed-effects moderator results of the various intervention types and also displays the difference between the mean effect size of the coded studies and the specific intervention.

61

Intervention	k	Hedges' g	Difference	95% CI		t	τ_x^2	$Q_{\it within}$	${\it Q}$ between	Residual I ²
Modeling and Schema	18	0.62	-0.11	-0.08	1.31	0.40	0.16	55.37	40.24	76.93%
Problem Solving	18	0.70**	-0.02	0.23	1.17	0.40	0.16	55.19	39.88	76.61%
Self-Regulation	18	0.04	-0.70	-0.88	0.97	0.36	0.13	52.22	47.17	73.54%
Technology	18	0.72***	0.01	0.35	1.10	0.40	0.16	52.15	39.88	75.42%
EI	18	0.65**	-0.10	0.22	1.08	0.40	0.16	54.79	39.61	77.03%
Guided Practice	18	0.61*	-0.13	0.07	1.15	0.40	0.16	55.37	40.12	76.76%
Feedback and Reinforcement	18	0.46	-0.29	-0.21	1.13	0.39	0.15	54.63	42.03	75.80%
Peer Tutoring	18	0.35	-0.44	-0.14	0.85	0.36	0.13	53.06	47.01	73.26%
CSI										
CRA	18	0.88**	0.19	0.35	1.41	0.40	0.16	55.15	40.78	75.26%
EAI	18	0.65*	-0.08	0.15	1.15	0.10	0.16	54.76	39.61	75.12%
Graphic Organizer										

Table 5 Intervention Moderator Results for Group Designs

Note. * statistically significant at p < .05; ** statistically significant at p < .01; *** statistically significant at p < .001, k is the number of studies included in the analysis. EI = Explicit Inquiry; CSI = Cognitive Strategy Instruction; CRA = Concrete-Representational-Abstract; EAI = Enhanced Anchored Instruction.

Modeling and Schema

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including a modeling and schema-based intervention yielded a Hedges' *g* of 0.62, which is found to not be statistically significant with a *p*-value = .0816, and a Q_{within} of 55.37 and a Q_{between} of 40.24, both of which are statistically significant with *p*-values<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (76.93%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.16$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity and the intervention explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups. Thus, alluding to other potential moderators accounting for the remaining portion of the effect.

Single case studies including modeling and schema-based interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.89, which is found be statistically significant with a *p-value* <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.68 and a Q_{between} of 110.99; which are found to be statistically significant and not statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains most of the between-studies difference.

The difference between studies coded using the modeling and schema approach and studies not using the modeling and schema approach yielded a difference of 0.62 for group designs and -0.08 for single case studies. These differences suggest for each additional unit of intervention, the Hedges' g and Tau-U effects will decrease by 0.11 and 0.08 respectively.

Problem Solving

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including a problem-solving intervention yielded a Hedges' *g* of 0.70, which is found to be statistically significant with a *p*-value = .0033, and a Q_{within} of 55.19 and a Q_{between} of 39.88, both of which are statistically significant with *p*<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (76.61%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.16$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups.

Single case studies including problem-solving interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.89, which is found be statistically significant with a *p-value* <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.72 and a Q_{between} of 110.94, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains little of the between-studies difference.

The difference between studies coded using the problem-solving approach and studies not using the problem-solving approach yielded a difference of -0.02 for group designs and -0.07 for single case studies. These differences suggest for each additional

unit of intervention, the Hedges' g and Tau-U effects will decrease by 0.02 and decrease by 0.07 respectively.

Self-Regulation

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including a self-regulation intervention yielded a Hedges' *g* of 0.04, which is found to not be statistically significant with a *p*-*value* = 0.93, and a Q_{within} of 52.22 and a Q_{between} of 47.17, both of which are statistically significant with *p*<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (73.54%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.13$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups.

Single case studies including self-regulation interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.89, which is found be statistically significant with a *p-value* <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.84 and a Q_{between} of 110.82, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains all of the between-studies difference.

The difference between studies coded using the self-regulation approach and studies not using the self-regulation approach yielded a difference of 0.04 for group designs and -0.05 for single case studies. These differences suggest for each additional unit of intervention, the Hedges' g and Tau-U effects will increase by 0.04 and decrease by 0.05 respectively.

Technology

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including a technology intervention yielded a Hedges' g of 0.72, which is found to be statistically significant with a *p*-value = .0001, and a Q_{within} of 52.15 and a Q_{between} of 39.88, both of which are statistically significant with *p*<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (75.42%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.16$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups.

Single case studies including technology-based interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.96, which is found be statistically significant with a *p-value* <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.87 and a Q_{between} of 110.79, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains all of the between-studies difference. The difference between studies coded using the technology approach and studies not using the technology approach yielded a difference of 0.01 for group designs and 0.03 for single case studies. These differences suggest for each additional unit of intervention, the Hedges' *g* and Tau-U effects will increase by 0.01 and increase by 0.03 respectively.

Explicit Instruction (EI)

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including an EI intervention yielded a Hedges' g of 0.65, which is found to be statistically significant with a *p*-value = .0029,

and a Q_{within} of 54.79 and a Q_{between} of 39.61, both of which are statistically significant with p<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (77.03%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.16$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups.

Single case studies including EI interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.94, which is found be statistically significant with a *p*-value <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.84 and a Q_{between} of 110.82, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains all of the between-studies difference.

The difference between studies coded using the EI approach and studies not using the EI approach yielded a difference of -0.10 for group designs and 0.06 for single case studies. These differences suggest for each additional unit of intervention, the Hedges' *g* and Tau-U effects will decrease by 0.10 and decrease by 0.06 respectively.

Guided Practice

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including a guided practice intervention yielded a Hedges' g of 0.61, which is found to be statistically significant with a *p*-value = .0280, and a Q_{within} of 55.37 and a Q_{between} of 40.12, both of which are statistically significant with *p*<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (76.76%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.16$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups.

Single case studies including guided practice interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.93, which is found be statistically significant with a *p*-value <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.88 and a Q_{between} of 110.78, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains all of the between-studies difference.

The difference between studies coded using the guided practice approach and studies not using the guided practice approach yielded a difference of -0.13 for group designs and -0.02 for single case studies. These differences suggest for each additional unit of intervention, the Hedges' g and Tau-U effects will decrease by 0.13 and 0.02 respectively.

Feedback and Reinforcement

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including a feedback and reinforcement intervention yielded a Hedges' *g* of 0.46, which is found to not be statistically significant with a *p*-value = 0.18, and a Q_{within} of 54.63 and a Q_{between} of 42.03, both of which are statistically significant with *p*<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (75.80%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.15$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of

heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups.

Single case studies including feedback and reinforcement interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.91, which is found be statistically significant with a *p*-value <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.83 and a Q_{between} of 110.83, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains all of the between-studies difference.

The difference between studies coded using the feedback and reinforcement approach and studies not using the feedback and reinforcement approach yielded a difference of -0.29 for group designs and -0.04 for single case studies. These differences suggest for each additional unit of intervention, the Hedges' g and Tau-U effects will decrease by 0.29 and decrease by 0.04 respectively.

Peer Tutoring

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including a peer tutoring intervention yielded a Hedges' g of 0.35, which is found to not be statistically significant with a *pvalue* = .1642, and a Q_{within} of 53.06 and a Q_{between} of 47.01, both of which are statistically significant with *p*<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (73.26%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.13$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups. There were no single case studies included in this analysis that incorporated a peer tutoring component.

The difference between studies coded using the peer tutoring approach and studies not using the peer tutoring approach yielded a difference of -0.44 for group designs. These differences suggest for each additional unit of intervention, the Hedges' g will decrease by 0.44.

Cognitive Strategy Instruction (CSI)

Single case studies including CSI interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.95, which is found be statistically significant with a *p-value* <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.88 and a Q_{between} of 110.79, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains all of the between-studies difference. There were no group design studies that included a CSI intervention.

The difference between studies coded using the CSI approach and studies not using the CSI approach yielded a difference of 0.02 for single case studies. This difference suggests for each additional unit of intervention, the Tau-U effect will increase by 0.02.

Concrete-Representational-Abstract (CRA)

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including a CRA intervention yielded a Hedges' *g* of 0.88, which is found to be statistically significant with a *p*-value = .0012, and a Q_{within} of 55.15 and a Q_{between} of 40.78, both of which are statistically significant with *p*<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (75.26%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.16$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups.

Single case studies including CRA interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.91, which is found be statistically significant with a *p*-value <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.85 and a Q_{between} of 110.82, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains all of the between-studies difference.

The difference between studies coded using the CRA approach and studies not using the CRA approach yielded a difference of 0.19 for group designs and -0.04 for single case studies. These differences suggest for each additional unit of intervention, the Hedges' g and Tau-U effects will increase by 0.19 and decrease by 0.04 respectively.

Enhanced Anchored Instruction (EAI)

As seen in Table 5, group design studies including an EAI intervention yielded a Hedges' g of 0.65, which is found to be statistically significant with a p-value = .0103,

and a Q_{within} of 54.76 and a Q_{between} of 39.61, both of which are statistically significant with p<.0001. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (75.12%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0.16$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups.

Single case studies including EAI interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.95, which is found be statistically significant with a *p*-value <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.88 and a Q_{between} of 110.78, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains all of the between-studies difference.

The difference between studies coded using the EAI approach and studies not using the EAI approach yielded a difference of -0.08 for group designs and 0.02 for single case studies. These differences suggest for each additional unit of intervention, the Hedges' g and Tau-U effects will decrease by 0.08 and increase by 0.02 respectively.

Graphic Organizer

Single case studies including graphic organizer interventions yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.90, which is found be statistically significant with a *p*-value <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.77 and a Q_{between} of 110.89, which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_x^2 = 0$) together suggest

the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains all of the between-studies difference. There were no group design studies that included a graphic organizer intervention.

The difference between studies coded using the graphic organizer approach and studies not using the graphic organizer approach yielded a difference of -0.06 for single case studies. This difference suggests for each additional unit of intervention, the Tau-U effects will decrease by 0.06.

Intervention	k	Tau-U	Difference	95% CI		CI t		$Q_{\it within}$	Qbetween	I^2
Modeling and Schema	20	0.89***	-0.08	0.61	1.16	0	0	0.68	110.99	0.00%
Problem Solving	20	0.89***	-0.07	0.63	1.16	0	0	0.72	110.94	0.00%
Self-Regulation	20	0.89***	-0.05	0.45	1.33	0	0	0.84	110.82	0.00%
Technology	20	0.96***	0.03	0.58	1.34	0	0	0.87	110.79	0.00%
EI	20	0.94***	0.06	0.76	1.13	0	0	0.84	110.82	0.00%
Guided Practice	20	0.93***	-0.02	0.66	1.19	0	0	0.88	110.78	0.00%
Feedback and Reinforcement	20	0.91***	-0.04	0.61	1.20	0	0	0.83	110.83	0.00%
Peer Tutoring										
CSI	20	0.95***	0.02	0.62	1.28	0	0	0.88	110.79	0.00%
CRA	20	0.91***	-0.04	0.64	1.18	0	0	0.84	110.82	0.00%
EAI	20	0.95***	0.02	0.57	1.33	0	0	0.88	110.78	0.00%
Graphic Organizer	20	0.90***	-0.06	0.64	1.17	0	0	0.77	110.89	0.00%

Table 6 Intervention Moderator Results for Single Case Designs

Note. * statistically significant at p < .05; ** statistically significant at p < .01; *** statistically significant at p < .001, k is the number of studies included in the analysis. EI = Explicit Inquiry; CSI = Cognitive Strategy Instruction; CRA = Concrete-Representational-Abstract; EAI = Enhanced Anchored Instruction.

Research Question 3

Research question 3 asked: what factors influence, or moderate, the effectiveness of algebra interventions? We hypothesized multiple factors, including length of intervention, training of interventionists, alignment with NCTM standards, and if follow-up data was collected. The specific hypotheses are described below. Note the same limitations discussed in the prior analysis apply to these moderators as well.

Hypothesis 3a

We hypothesized that training the person providing the intervention would lead to greater effects on the intervention outcome. We tested this by running a moderator analysis with intervention training being coded as a dichotomous variable (1=yes; 0=no). As seen in Table 7, both single case and group design studies produced a large effect size when using their respective conventions.

The *Q* statistic for single case studies was statistically significant, *Q* (6) =0.93, *p* = <.0001. This result, combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of the effect sizes ($\tau_M^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with trained interventionists have small levels of heterogeneity. The *Q* statistic for group design studies was also statistically significant, *Q* (5) =11.86, *p* = <.001. This result, combined with examining the I^2 statistic (71.53%) and the variance of the effect sizes ($\tau_M^2 = 0.20$) together suggest the effect sizes for algebra interventions with group designs have higher levels of heterogeneity. Overall, both study designs produced statistically significant effects; however, data should be interpreted with caution due to higher levels of heterogeneity within the group design studies.

Moderator	k	Hedges'	95% CI		t	$ au_{M}^{2}$	Q	I^2
		g/TauU						
Single Case	6	0.93***	0.60	1.26	0	0	0.37	0.00%
Group Design	5	0.73**	0.25	1.20	0.45	0.20	11.86	71.53%

 Table 7 Interventionist Training

Note. * statistically significant at p < .05; ** statistically significant at p < .01; *** statistically significant at p < .01; k is the number of studies included in the analysis.

Hypothesis 3b

We hypothesized that interventions lasting longer would produce a greater outcome for students. We tested this hypothesis by running a moderator analysis and analyzing the difference between coded studies that reported intervention length, which was coded as a continuous variable. For single case designs, the R^2 , which explains the amount of heterogeneity that is explained by the moderator, was 0% and for group designs it was 32.1%.

As seen in Table 8, both single case and group design studies produced a medium to large effect sizes when using their respective conventions. Group design studies reported a large amount of heterogeneity as denoted by the elevated I^2 statistic (63.38%). Upon analyzing the differences between studies that reported length of intervention and those who did not, the data shows minor differences in effect size as one unit of intervention length increases, the effect only improves by 0.02 for group designs and decreases by 0.01 for single case designs. Overall, while the intervention length is statistically significant for both variables, the moderator does not explain much of the variance when considering the R², Q values, and I^2 statistics.

Moderator	k	Hedges'	Diff.	95%	95% CI		95% CI		R ²	$Q_{\it withi}$	Q bet	I^2
		g/Tau-U						n	ween			
Single Case	18	0.96***	-0.01	0.69	1.24	0	0%	0.74	0.07	0.00%		
Group Design	17	0.50*	0.02	0.00	0.22	0.32	32.1%	38.85	5.06	63.38%		

 Table 8 Intervention Length (weeks)

Note. * statistically significant at p < .05; ** statistically significant at p < .01; *** statistically significant at p < .001, k is the number of studies included in the analysis.

Hypothesis 3c

We hypothesized that interventions aligning to NCTM standards would produce greater effects on algebra skills because they would follow specific protocols and align with mathematical standards. For this analysis, NCTM alignment was coded as a dichotomous variable (1=aligned; 0=not aligned). All studies that were group designs were coded as aligning with NCTM standards, so a moderator analysis was not able to be run. When analyzing single case studies, the overall Tau-U was 0.94, which was statistically significant with a *pvalue*<.0001. There was minimal heterogeneity within studies, as denoted by the I^2 (0%). Similar to other analyses, the difference between point estimates of NCTM-aligned studies and non-NCTM-aligned studies was calculated and produced a value of 0.10. Overall, studies aligned with NCTM standards produced a large effect and demonstrated low levels of heterogeneity.

 Table 9 NCTM

Moderator	k	Hedges'	Diff.	95%	95% CI		R ²	$Q_{\it within}$	$Q_{\it between}$	I^2
		g/Tau-U								
Single	20	0.94***	0.10	0.76	1.13	0	0%	0.78	110.88	0.00
Case										%

Table 7 com	mucu		-							
Moderator	k	Hedges'	Diff.	95% CI		τ	R ²	Qwithin	${\it Q}$ between	I^2
		g/Tau-U								
Group										
Design										

Table 0 continued

Note. * statistically significant at p < .05; ** statistically significant at p < .01; *** statistically significant at p < .001, k is the number of studies included in the analysis.

Hypothesis 3d

We hypothesized studies that provided follow-up data would demonstrate a larger effect than studies who did not provide follow-up data. For this analysis, follow-up was coded as a dichotomous variable (1=follow-up data collected; 0=no follow-up). As seen in Table 10, the *Q* statistic for single case studies was statistically significant, *Q* (19) =34.96, *p* = <.0141. This result, combined with examining the *f*² statistic (46.16%) and the variance of the effect sizes (τ_{F}^{2} = 0.14) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have high levels of heterogeneity. The *Q* statistic for group design studies was also statistically significant, *Q* (17) =126.57, *p* = <.0001. This result, combined with examining the *I*² statistic (92.13%) and the variance of the effect sizes (τ_{F}^{2} = 0.55) together suggest the effect sizes for algebra interventions with group designs have high levels of heterogeneity. Overall, both study designs produced statistically significant effects; however, data should be interpreted with caution due to higher levels of heterogeneity within the studies. This is likely due to small sample sizes and the unbalanced data that was discussed previously.

Table 10 Follow-up

Moderator	k	Hedges'	95% CI		t	$ au_F^2$	Q	I^2
		g/TauU						
Single Case	20	0.94***	0.66	1.22	0.37	0.14	34.96	46.16%
Group Design	18	0.74*	0.16	1.33	0.74	0.55	126.57	92.13%

Note. * statistically significant at p < .05; ** statistically significant at p < .01; *** statistically significant at p < .001, k is the number of studies included in the analysis.

Research Question 4

Research question 4 asked: how have changes in federal and state standards impacted the effect of algebra interventions on student performance? It was hypothesized changes in standards have increased the necessity of rigorous intervention and improved the effectiveness of interventions on student outcomes. Common Core was implemented in 2009. As a result, we used 2009 as a cut-off year to separate pre- and post-Common Core studies. To determine the answer to this question, we ran a moderator analysis using post-2009 as the variable.

As seen in Table 11, group design studies post-2009 yielded a Hedges' *g* of 0.93, which is found to be statistically significant with a *p-value*<.0001, and a Q_{within} of 55.37 (*p*<.0001) and a Q_{between} of 43.40 (*p*<.0001). These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (74.39%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau c^2 = 0.15$) together suggest the effect sizes for group design studies post-2009 have high levels of heterogeneity and the intervention explains some, but not all, of the variance within and between groups. Thus, alluding to other potential moderators accounting for the remaining portion of the effect. Single case studies post-2009 yielded a Tau-U effect size of 0.95, which is found be statistically significant with a *p-value* <.0001, and a Q_{within} of 0.83 and a Q_{between} of 110.83; which are found to be not statistically significant and statistically significant respectively. These results combined with examining the I^2 statistic (0%) and the variance of effect sizes ($\tau_C^2 = 0$) together suggest the effect sizes for single case design studies with algebra interventions have small levels of heterogeneity and the grouping variable explains most of the between-studies difference.

Table 11 Post-2009

Moderator	k	Hedges'	95% CI		t	τc^2	$oldsymbol{Q}$ within	${\it Q}$ between	I^2
		g/Tau-U							
Post 2009 – Group	18	0.93***	0.58	1.28	0.39	0.15	55.37	43.40	74.39%
Post 2009 – Single	20	0.95***	0.74	1.16	0	0	0.83	110.83	0.00%

Note. * statistically significant at p < .05; ** statistically significant at p < .01; *** statistically significant at p < .001, k is the number of studies included in the analysis.

Study Quality

Study quality was measured by the study quality indicator tool in Appendix A; this measure was developed for this study and was based on standards developed by What Works Clearinghouse Procedures and Standards Handbook (WWCPSH) Version 3.0. Interrater reliability for the study quality indicator alone was initially 88.2%. The first author determined the final codes for each item before conducting analyses.

We elected not to conduct a meta-regression on algebra interventions with study quality scores as a continuous moderator due to disagreement in the research field regarding using quality indicators as moderators (Ahn & Becker, 2011). Instead, we decided to analyze quality score on a qualitative level. Total quality scores of coded studies ranged from 4 to 18 with a total possible score of 23 for group designs and a total possible score of 17 for single case designs.

Upon visual analysis, there does not appear to be a correlation between effect size and total quality score. Single case studies appeared to have similar Tau-U values throughout the spectrum of total quality scores, and group study designs had variability among quality scores and Hedges' *g*. Quality indicators benefit the research in that higher quality scores produce more reliable research and, in the opinion of this examiner, permit "safer" conclusions. Of note, it was more challenging for single case studies to receive higher quality scores because some of the questions to assess quality focused on randomized control trials which is not permissible in single case research.

Where many studies failed to gain quality score points were in the reporting of demographic information. Studies often only reported 3-4 demographic characteristics. Another area where studies did not gain points, was in reporting the reliability and validity of the outcome measures, likely due to many of the instruments being researcher-created. Lastly, many studies only reported construct validity or criterion validity; only one study in this meta-analysis produced both.

Of the 20 single case studies in this meta-analysis, 12 (60%) generated a quality score that was at or above a 9, which is above the 50% margin of total points possible. Of the 18 group design studies in this meta-analysis, 8 (44.4%) generated a quality score that was at or above a 12, which is above the 50% margin of total points possible. Generally speaking, single case research appeared to provide higher quality research when using the quality indicators associated with this study.

81

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of the present study was to perform a systematic meta-analysis on interventions to improve algebra skills in students who are classified as struggling or at-risk for algebra failure. The present study has expanded search criteria compared to Watt, Watkins and Abbitt (2016), measured study quality in a different way (Appendix A), and examined additional potential moderators of intervention effectiveness. These four potential moderators included factors associated with interventionist training, length of intervention, alignment with NCTM standards, and follow-up data. We also compared the effect sizes for 12 different intervention techniques and analyzed the differences between studies who used the intervention and those who did not.

Overall, interventions to improve algebra performance in students with difficulties do appear to have evidence of efficacy, as demonstrated by the consistent medium to large effects when using the ranking scales described in previous sections. Summary effect sizes for overall algebra interventions fell on the upper cusp of the medium range for group designs and in the large range for single case designs; however, heuristics such as these ranking systems are not the best method by which to judge an effect size and it is difficult to interpret the practical significance of these effect sizes (Durlak, 2009). These conclusions are congruent with previous research (Haas, 2005; Hughes et al., 2014; Maccini, McNaughton & Ruhl, 1999; Rakes et al., 2010; and Watt, Watkins & Abbitt, 2016).

Summary effect sizes for the individual interventions themselves varied significantly. For group design studies, modeling and schema, problem-solving, technology, explicit inquiry (EI),

guided practice, concrete-representational-abstract (CRA), and enhanced anchored instruction (EAI) all produced medium effects by Cohen's (1988) conventions. Self-regulation produced a small, almost non-existent, effect, and cognitive strategy instruction (CSI) and graphic organizers were not used in group studies. For single case designs, all 12 interventions previous described produced a large to very large effect by Vannest and Ninci's (2015) standards. While we are unable to rank the various interventions because of unbalanced data, small sample sizes, and the intermingling of interventions within the same study, the difference calculated between studies using the intervention and those not using the intervention provide some insight about the effectiveness of the intervention(s). Results when analyzing the differences discussed previously, show minimal to no change in single case designs and only minor changes in group designs, with the greatest differences found for self-regulation, peer tutoring, and feedback and reinforcement. Notably, these were also the interventions that were used the least amount. As such, they have a higher level of heterogeneity and robustness and are more impacted by the small sample size and unbalanced data than other interventions that had more data points. These conclusions are consistent with previous research, particularly Maccini, McNaughton and Ruhl (1999) who discovered self-regulation, peer tutoring and feedback and reinforcement were among several highly effective interventions for this population. Overall, the results of positive change in algebra performance was consistent with existing meta-analyses (Haas, 2005; Hughes et al., 2014; Maccini, McNaughton & Ruhl, 1999; Rakes et al., 2010; and Watt, Watkins & Abbitt, 2016).

Results of the moderator analysis demonstrated studies where the interventionist was trained yielded medium to large effects and produced significant results. However, there were limited studies which reported interventionist training; therefore, the results should be interpreted with caution due to unbalanced data and small sample size. Despite these limitations, this moderator analysis indicates training interventionists leads to improved effects; however, the significance of that effect is unknown.

Contrary to our hypothesis, we did not find length of intervention (i.e., span of time over which direct contact occurred) to moderate intervention effectiveness. While studies yielded statistically significant results, there were high levels of heterogeneity and the R^2 did not explain the variance. While length of intervention appears to be an important aspect of improving algebra skills, the data collected in this study did not show it to be a significant moderator. Haas (2005) addressed length of intervention; however, it did not analyze length of intervention as a potential moderator.

Regarding alignment to NCTM standards, only single case studies were analyzed because all group designs were aligned to NCTM standards, therefore not making it a possible moderator. The single case analysis produced a statistically significant effect with little heterogeneity, implying NCTM alignment plays a role in effective algebra intervention; however, it does not act as a moderator due to an R^2 of 0. It should be noted the data were unbalanced and likely skewed the results in a positive direction. Therefore, results should be interpreted cautiously.

A follow-up moderator analysis was conducted. Both group and single case designs produced a statistically significant effect that demonstrated medium to large effects. However, there was a large amount of heterogeneity in both analyses, which is a large limitation in interpreting the results. Generally speaking, follow-up data is likely to aid in documenting maintenance of the acquired skills, but does not appear to significantly help continue growth.

Lastly, data were collected to address the legal implementation of the Common Core (2010) standards. It was hypothesized after 2009, when Common Core was implemented,

intervention effects would show greater gain than prior to 2009 due to increased rigor and adherence to a curriculum. Contrary to our hypothesis, there was no significant difference in post-intervention performance. Perhaps this could be attributed to improved general education instruction because of Common Core.

It is important to note that while our aims were similar to those of Watt, Watkins and Abbitt (2016), Hughes et al. (2014), Rakes et al. (2010), Haas (2005) and Maccini, McNaughton and Ruhl (1999) our methods were not identical. While each used a meta-analytic approach, we included quality analysis and addressed grey literature. Grey literature was considered dissertations and theses that were not published in peer-reviewed journals but were reviewed by a university-level committee. Interventions were categorized differently in each study and we expanded our search criteria to gather more studies than previous meta-analyses.

Implications

Much of the experimental and quasi-experimental research on algebra interventions have evidence of producing statistically significant effect sizes which produce medium to large effects by Cohen's (1988) and Vannest and Ninci's (2015) conventions. The practical significance of this study lies within the school system. Understanding what interventions work and which ones produce greater outcomes or differences is critical in educational reform and pedagogical techniques. As mentioned previously, algebra is a critical skill for post-secondary success; therefore, having effective interventions for students who struggle with it has strong societal implications. While some interventions produced smaller effects, or had less difference between studies who used it and those who did not, the practical nature of growth cannot be undervalued. For a student who is struggling with a particular concept, even small growth in that area can lead to large gains down the road, especially in a field such as mathematics where foundations build upon one another. While the results may not be statistically significant, they are educationally, or instructionally, significant. Inclusively, it is our belief that "minimal" effect sizes or growth should not dissuade school systems from incorporating potentially efficacious interventions to support students' academic needs.

While examining study quality, we found single case research appeared to be slightly stronger than group design. In an academic field where students' futures are at stake, it is critical to employ empirically sound and reliable research. Study quality may be an important factor for improving algebra intervention and should be continuously addressed in future research.

Limitations and Future Directions

There were several major limitations that have been identified throughout this study, which provide opportunity for improvement and future research. The most obvious and important pertains to the statistical analyses used in this research. First, the current study employed a univariate modeling approach, when a multivariate model was more appropriate provided the overlap of interventions used within studies and shared variance among different variables (Becker, 2000; Jackson et al., 2010). The present analysis did not implement correlations between related variables to create a multivariate model; therefore, the overlap between variables was not accounted for in the meta-regression. Research in the future should attempt to satisfy this qualm and address algebra intervention effectiveness from a multivariate mindset.

Secondly, a random-effects model was implemented to address the moderating factors between interventions when a network meta-analysis would likely have fit the model more effectively. A network meta-analysis is a quantitative synthesis of multiple outcomes from studies that span multiple treatments. Of note, due to the unbalanced data, it was unknown if utilizing this methodology would have mediated the impact of skewed data; however, future research should implement this method to address these questions.

As previously mentioned, the data set for this study was largely unbalanced. This was attributed to multiple studies implementing multiple interventions within a treatment package for a study. This made it difficult to run moderator analyses and tease out the true effect of each intervention. Future research needs to address these problems and the occurrence of multiple interventions being utilized simultaneously. One possible way to alleviate this issue would be to collapse the intervention terms into smaller categories, as many of them were similar in nature and could be combined under a larger, more encompassing term. Additionally, studies could be grouped by number of interventions utilized. For example, studies using only one of the coded interventions would be in a group and studies using two or more coded interventions would be in another group. These could be compared in an effort to address the importance of integrating a variety of pedagogical techniques to enhance all styles of learners.

Lastly, this research was relatively small in terms of sample size, as it only included 38 studies. These groups became smaller (n=18; n=20) as they were separated by design due to different effect sizes. Due to small sample size, effects were interpreted with caution and more sensitive to change and error. Future research should aim at incorporating more studies both at the single subject level and group subject level.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the present study suggests interventions to improve algebra skills have medium to large effects across a variety of studies. It is difficult to interpret the practical significance of these effects because of the unbalanced data and intermingling effects of interventions within the same study. Heterogeneity for all facets of intervention fluctuated at post-intervention. Single case design studies appeared to have higher quality of research and more consistent effects across various interventions, as demonstrated by the lower levels of heterogeneity, while group design studies yielded more variable effect sizes across interventions and had overall less high-quality studies. Common Core (2010) implementation did not appear to have significant impacts on the effectiveness of algebra interventions as hypothesized.

REFERENCES

**indicates a study used in the meta-analysis*

- Adams (2003) Reading mathematics: More than words can say, *Read. Teach.* 56(8), pp. 786–795.
- Ahn, S., & Becker, B. J. (2011). Incorporating quality scores in meta-analysis. Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics, 36(5), 555-585. doi:10.3102/1076998610393968

Algebra. (n.d.). Retrieved February 28, 2018, from https://www.merriam-

webster.com/dictionary/algebra

- Aunio, P., & Räsänen, P. (2016). Core Numerical Skills for Learning Mathematics in Children Aged Five to Eight Years--A Working Model for Educators. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 24(5), 684-704.
- Axtell, P. K., McCallum, R. S., Bell, S. M., & Poncy, B. (2009). Developing math automaticity using a classwide fluency building procedure for middle school students: A preliminary study. *Psychology in the Schools*, 46, 526–538.
- Azevedo, R., & Bernard, R. M. (1995). A meta-analysis of the effects of feedback in computerbased instruction. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, *13*(2), 111-127.
- Balfanz, R., McPartland, J., & Shaw, A. (2002). *Re-Conceptualizing Extra Help for High School Students in a High Standards Era*.
- Ball, D. L., J. Ferrini-Mundy, J. Kilpatrick, R. J. Milgram, W. Schmid, and R. Schaar. 2005.
 "Reaching for Common Ground in K-12 Mathematics Education." Notices of the AMS 52 (9): 1055–1058.

- Bastable, V., & Schifter, D. (2008). Classroom stories: Examples of elementary students engaged in early algebra. In J. J. Kaput, D. W. Carraher, & M. L. Blanton (Eds.), *Algebra in the early grades* (pp. 165–184). New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Baumeister, R. F., Heatherton, T. F., & Tice, D. M. (1994). Losing control: How and why people fail at self-regulation. San Diego, CA. *US: Academic Press*.
- Becker, B. J. (2000). Multivariate meta-analysis. In H. E. A. Tinsley & S. D. Brown (Eds.),Handbook of applied multivariate statistics and mathematical modeling (pp. 499–525).San Diego: Academic.
- Binder, C. (1996). Behavioral fluency: Evolution of a new paradigm. *Behavior Analyst, 19*, 163-197.
- Blanton, Stephens, Knuth, Gardiner, Isler, & Kim. (2015). The development of children's algebraic thinking: The impact of a comprehensive early algebra intervention in third grade. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 46(1), 39-87.
 doi:10.5951/jresematheduc.46.1.0039
- Bol, L., Riggs, R., Hacker D. J., Dickerson, D., & Nunnery, J. A. (2010). The calibration accuracy of middle school students in math classes. *Journal of Research in Education*, 21, 81–96.
- Boonen, A. H., van der Schoot, M., van Wesel, F., de Vries, M. H., & Jolles, J. (2013). What underlies successful word problem solving? A path analysis in sixth-grade students.Contemporary Educational Psychology, 38, 271–279.
- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L.V., Higgins, J.P.T., & Rothstein, H. R. (2009). Meta-Regression. InM. Borenstein (Ed.), *Introduction to meta-analysis* (190-202). Chichester: Wiley & Sons.

- Borenstein, M., Hedges', L., Higgins, J., & Rothstein, H. (2011). A basic introduction to fixed-effect and random-effects models for meta-analysis. *Research Synthesis Methods*, 1(2), 97-111. Retrieved September 4, 2018.
- Bottge, B. A. (1999). Effects of contextualized math instruction on problem solving of average and below-average achieving students. *Journal of Special Education*, 33, 81-92. doi: 10.1177/002246699903300202
- *Bottge, B. A., Heinrichs, M., Chan, S.-Y., & Serlin, R. C. (2001). Anchoring adolescents' understanding of math concepts in rich problem-solving environments. *Remedial and Special Education*, 22(5), 299–314.
- Bottge, B., Rueda, E., & Skivington, M. (2006). Situating math instruction in rich problemsolving contexts: Effects on adolescents with challenging behaviors. *Behavioral Disorders*, 31, 394-407.
- *Bottge, B. A., Rueda, E., Serlin, R. C., Hung, Y.-H., & Kwon, J. M. (2007). Shrinking achievement differences with anchored math problems: Challenges and possibilities. *Journal of Special Education*, *41*(1), 31–49.
- *Bouck, E. C., Kulkarni, G., & Johnson, L. (2011). Mathematical performance of students with disabilities in middle school standards-based and traditional curricula. *Remedial and Special Education*, *32*(5), 429–443.
- Briggs, J., Demana, R, & Osborne, A. (1986). Moving into algebra: Developing the concepts of variable and function. *The Australian Mathematics Teacher*, *42*, 5-8.
- *Browder, D. M., Jimenez, B. A., & Trela, K. (2012). Grade-aligned math instruction for secondary students with moderate intellectual disability. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 47(3), 373–388.

- Bryant, D. P., Bryant, B. R., & Hammill, D. D. (2000). Characteristic behaviors of students with LD who have teacher-identified math weaknesses. *Journal of Learning Disabilities, 33*, 168–177.
- Burns, M. K., Appleton, J. J., & Stehouwer, J. D. (2005). Meta-analysis of response-tointervention research: Examining field-based and research-implemented models. *Journal* of Psychoeducational Assessment, 23, 381-394.
- *Calhoon, M. B., & Fuchs, L. S. (2003). The effects of peer-assisted learning strategies and curriculum-based measurement on the mathematics performance of secondary students with disabilities. *Remedial and Special Education*, 24(4), 235–245.
- Calhoon, M. B., Wall, R., Flores, M. M., & Houchins, D. E. (2007). Computational fluency performance profile of high school students with mathematics disabilities. *Remedial and Special Education*, 28, 304–315.
- Carpenter, T. P., Franke, M. L., & Levi, L. (2003). *Thinking mathematically : Integrating arithmetic and algebra in elementary school.* Heinemann.
- Carpenter, T. P., Levi, L., Berman, P. W., & Pligge, M. (2005). Developing algebraic reasoning in the elementary school. In T. A. Romberg, T. P. Carpenter, & F. Dremock (Eds.), *Understanding Mathematics and Science Matters*. (pp. 81–98). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Case, L. P., Harris, K. R., & Graham, S. (1992). Improving the mathematical problem-solving skills of students with learning disabilities: Self-regulated strategy development. *The Journal of Special Education*, 26, 1–19.

- Cassel, J., & Reid, R. (1996). Use of a self-regulated strategy intervention to improve word problem-solving skills of students with mild disabilities. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 6, 153–172.
- *Cavanaugh, C., Gillan, K. J., Bosnick, J., Hess, M., & Scott, H. (2008). Effectiveness of interactive online algebra learning tools. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 38(1), 67–95.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Cohen, P. A., & Dacanay, L. S. (1992). Computer-based instruction and health professions education. *Evaluation & the Health Professions*, 15(3), 259-281.
 doi:10.1177/016327879201500301
- Common Core State Standards Initiative. (2010). *Common core state standards for mathematics*. Washington, DC: National Governors Association Center for Best Practices and the Council of Chief State School Officers.
- Cooper, T. J., & Warren, E. (2011). Years 2 to 6 students' ability to generalise: Models, representations and theory. In J. Cai & E. Knuth (Eds.), *Early algebraization: A global dialogue from multiple per-spectives* (pp. 187–214). Heidelberg, Germany: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-17735-4_12
- *Corlu, M. S., Capraro, R. M., & Corlu, M. A. (2011). Developing computational fluency with the help of science: A Turkish middle and high school grades study. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology - TOJET*, 10(2), 72–81.
- Cortiella, C., & Horowitz, S. H. (2014). The state of learning disabilities: Facts, trends and emerging issues. *New York: National Center for Learning Disabilities*.

- Day, S. L., & Connor, C. M. (2017). Examining the relations between self-regulation and achievement in third-grade students. *Assessment For Effective Intervention*, 42(2), 97-109.
- Digiacomo, G., & Chen, P. P. (2016). Enhancing self-regulatory skills through an intervention embedded in a middle school mathematics curriculum. *Psychology in the Schools*, 53(6), 601-616.
- Dignath, C., Buettner, G., & Langfeldt, H. (2008). How can primary school students learn self-regulated learning strategies most effectively? A meta-analysis on self-regulation training programmes. *Educational Research Review*, *3*, 101–129.
 doi:10.1016/j.adamse.2008.02.002

doi:10.1016/j.edurev.2008.02.003

- Dougherty, B. J. (2003). Voyaging from theory to practice in learning: Measure up. In N. A.
 Pateman, B. J. Dougherty, & J. T. Zilliox (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Joint Meeting of the* 27th Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education and 25th Conference of PME-NA (Vol. 1, pp. 17–23). Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii.
- Dougherty, B. (2008). Measure up: A quantitative view of early algebra. In J. J. Kaput, D. W.Carraher, & M. L. Blanton (Eds.), *Algebra in the early grades* (pp. 389–412). New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Duncan, G. J., Dowsett, C. J., Claessens, A., Magnuson, K., Huston, A.C., & Klebanov, P.
 (2007). School readiness and later achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 43, 1428–1446.

- Dunlosky, J. & Rawson, K. A. (2012). Overconfidence produces underachievement: Inaccurate self-evaluations undermine students' learning and retention. *Learning and Instruction*, 22(4). doi:10.1016/j.learninstruc.2011.08.003
- Durlak, J. A. (2009). How to select, calculate, and interpret effect sizes. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, *34*(9), 917-928.
- Duru, A., & Koklu, O. (2011). Middle school students' reading comprehension of mathematical texts and algebraic equations. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 42(4), 447-468.
- DuVall, T.D., McLaughlin, T.F., & Sederstrom, G.C. (2003). The differential effects of skip counting and previewing on accuracy and fluency of math facts with middle school children with learning disabilities. *International Journal of Special Education*, 18(1), 1-6.
- Ellis, P. D. (2010). *The essential guide to effect sizes: Statistical power, meta-analysis, and the interpretation of research results.* Cambridge University Press.
- Fennell, F. (2008). What algebra? When? Retrieved May 2009 from National Council of Teachers of Mathematics website: http://www.nctm.org/news/detail.aspx?id=13840
- Finkelstein, N., Fong, A., Tiffany-Morales, J., Shields, P., & Huang, M. (2012). College bound in middle school and high school? How math course sequences matter. Sacramento, CA:
 The Center for the Future of Teaching and Learning at WestEd.
- Fong, A. B., Jaquet, K., & Finkelstein, N. (2014). Who repeats algebra I, and how does initial performance relate to improvement when the course is repeated? (REL 2015–059).
 Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Educational Laboratory West. Retrieved from http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs.

- *Freeman-Green, S. M., O'Brien, C., Wood, C. L., & Hitt, S. B. (2015). Effects of the SOLVE strategy on the mathematical problem solving skills of secondary students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, *30*(2), 76–90.
- Fuchs, L. S., Fuchs, D., Compton, D. L., Powell, S. R., Seethaler, P. M., Geary, D. C. (2004).Mathematics and learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 37, 4–15.
- *Fuchs, L. S., Powell, S. R., Seethaler, P. M., Cirino, P. T., Fletcher, J. M., Fuchs, D., Hamlett, C. L., & Zumeta, R. O. (2009). Remediating number combination and word problem deficits among students with mathematics difficulties: A randomized control trial. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *101*(3), 561–576.
- Geary, D.C. (2003). Learning disabilities in arithmetic: Problem-solving differences and cognitive deficits. In Swanson, H., Harris, K., & Graham, S. (Eds.) *Handbook of Learning Disabilities* (pp. 199-212).
- Geary, D. C. (2004). Mathematics and learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 37(1), 4–15.
- Gersten, R., Chard, D., Jayanthi, M., Baker, S., Morphy, P., & Flojo, J. (2008). Mathematics instruction for students with learning disabilities or difficulty learning mathematics: A synthesis of the intervention research. Portsmouth, NH: RMC.
 <u>http://www.centeroninstruction.org/files/Teaching%20Math%20to%20SLD%20Metaanalysis.pdf</u>
- Glass, G. V. (1976). Primary, secondary, and meta-analysis of research. *Educational Researcher*, 5(10), 3-8. doi:10.3102/0013189X005010003
- Glass, G. V., McGaw, B., & Smith, M.L. (1981). *Meta-analysis in social research*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Glass, C.R., Merluzzi, T.V., Biever, J.I., Larsen, K.H. (1982). Cognitive assessment of social anxiety: Development and validation of a self-statement questionnaire. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*. (6), 37–55.
- Graham, A. T, & Thomas, M. O. J. (2000). Building a versatile understanding of algebraic variables with a graphic calculator. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, *41*, 265-282.
- Greenstein, J., & Strains, P. S. (1977). The utility of the Keymath Diagnostic Arithmetic Test for adolescent learning disabled students. *Psychology in the Schools*, *14*, 275–282.
- Haas, M. (2005). Teaching methods for secondary algebra: A meta-analysis of findings. *NASSP Bulletin*, 89(642), 24-46. doi:10.1177/019263650508964204
- Hacker, D. J., Bol, L., & Keener, M. C. (2008). Metacognition in education: A focus on calibration. In J. Dunlosky & R. A. Bjork (Eds.), *Handbook of Metamemory and Memory* (pp. 429–455). New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Hall, T. & Strangman, N. (2002). Graphic Organizers. National Center on Assessing the General Curriculum. Retrieved August 23, 2009 from <u>http://www.cas.org/ncac</u>.
- Haring, N. G., & Eaton, M. D. (1978). Systematic instructional technology: An instructional hierarchy. In N. G. Haring, T. C. Lovitt, M. D. Eaton, & C. L. Hansen (Eds.), *The fourth R: Research in the classroom* (pp. 23-40). Columbus, OH: Merrill.
- *Harris, A. A. (2009). Comparing effects of two grouping conditions to teach algebraic problem

 -solving to students with mild disabilities in inclusive settings (Order No. 3356479).
 Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305095539). Retrieved from
 http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/305095539?a

- Haselbring, T., Lott, A., and Zydney, J. (2006). Technology-supported math instruction for students with disabilities: Two decades of research development. Retrieved July 23, 2007, from http://www.ldonline.org/article/6291.
- Hedges' L. V., Olkin I. (1985). *Statistical methods for meta-analysis*. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Hedges, L., & Stock, W. (1983). The effects of class size: An examination of rival hypotheses. *American Education Research Journal*, 20(1), 63-85. doi:10.2307/1162675
- Hegarty, M., & Kozhevnikov, M. (1999). Types of visual–spatial representations and mathematical problem solving. Journal of Educational Psychology, 91, 684–689.
- Helfand, D. (2006, January 30). A formula for failure in L.A. schools. Los Angeles Times. Retrieved September 26, 2017, from <u>http://www.latimes.com/local/la-me-dropout30jan30-story.html</u>.
- Heward, W.L. (2006). *Exceptional Children: An introduction to special education (8th Ed.)*. Upper Saddle River, NJ. Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Hiebert, J., Stigler, J. W., Jacobs, J. K., Givvin, K. B., Garnier, H., Smith, M., . . . Gallimore, R. (2005). Mathematics teaching in the United States today (and tomorrow): Results from the TIMSS 1999 video study. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 27(2), 111–132. doi:10.3102/01623737027002111
- Houston, M., Peter, P., & Sawyer, A. (1983). The role of meta-analysis in consumer research. Advances in Consumer Research, 10(1), 497 – 502.
- Huang, C.-W., Snipes, J., Finkelstein, N., & Regional Educational Laboratory West (ED).(2014). Using assessment data to guide math course placement of California middle

school students. REL 2014-040. In *Regional Educational Laboratory West*. Regional Educational Laboratory West.

- Huedo-Medina, T. B., Sánchez-Meca, J., Marín-Martínez, F., & Botella, J. (2006). Assessing heterogeneity in meta-analysis: Q statistic or I² index?. *Psychological Methods*, *11*(2), 193–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.11.2.193</u>
- Hughes, E., Witzel, B., Riccomini, P., Fries, K., & Kanyongo, G. (2014). A meta-analysis of algebra interventions for learners with disabilities and struggling learners. *The Journal of International Association of Special Education*, 15(1), 36-47.
- *Hunt, J. H., & Vasquez, E., III. (2014). Effects of ratio strategies intervention on knowledge of ratio equivalence for students with learning disability. *Journal of Special Education*, 48(3), 180–190.
- Hutchinson, N.L. (1987). Strategies for teaching learning disabled adolescents algebraic problems. *Reading, Writing, and Learning Disabilities, 3,* 63-74.
- *Hutchinson, N. L. (1993). Effects of cognitive strategy instruction on algebra problem solving of adolescents with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, *16*(1), 34–63.
- Impecoven-Lind, L. S., & Foegen, A. (2010). Teaching algebra to students with learning disabilities. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *46*(1), 31-37.

Individuals With Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 (2004).

- Ives, B. (2007). Graphic organizers applied to secondary algebra instruction for students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 22(2), 110–118.
- Jackson, D., White, I. R., & Thompson, S. G. (2010). Extending Dersimonian and Laird's methodology to perform multivariate random effects meta-analyses. *Statistics in Medicine*, 29(12), 1282–1297.

- *Jimenez, B. A., Browder, D., M., & Courtade, G. R. (2008). Teaching an algebraic equation to high school students with moderate developmental disabilities. *Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities*, *43*, 266-274.
- Jitendra, A., DiPipi, C., & Perron-Jones, N. (2002). An exploratory study of schema-based wordproblem-solving instruction for middle school students with learning disabilities: An emphasis on conceptual and procedural understanding. *Journal of Special Education*, 36(1), 23-38.
- Jitendra, A. K., Griffin, C., Deatline-Buchman, A., & Sczesniak, E. (2007). Mathematical word problem solving in third grade classrooms. *Journal of Educational Research*, 100, 283– 302.
- Jitendra, A., & Xin, Y. P. (1997). Mathematical word-problem-solving instruction for students with mild disabilities and students at risk for math failure; A research synthesis. *The Journal of Special Education*, 30(4), 412–438.
- Jonassen, D. H. (2003). Designing research-based instruction for story problems. Educational Psychology Review, 15, 267–296.
- Jordan, L., Miller, D., & Mercer, C. (1999). The effects of concrete to semiconcrete to abstract instruction in the acquisition and retention of fraction concepts and skills. *Learning Disabilities: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 9(3), 115-122.
- Kalchman, M., & Koedinger, K. (2005). Teaching and learning functions. Donovan & J. D.
 Bransford (Eds.), How students learn: History, mathematics, science in the classroom (pp. 351-393). Washington, D.C.: *National Academy Press*.

- Kaput, J. J. (2008). What is algebra? What is algebraic reasoning? In J. J. Kaput, D. W. Carraher, & M. L. Blanton (Eds.), *Algebra in the early grades* (pp. 5–17). New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Kavale, K. A., & Reese, J. H. (1992). The character of learning disabilities: An Iowa profile. Learning Disabilities Quarterly, 15, 74–94.
- Ketterlin-Geller, L. R., Chard, D. J., & Fien, H. (2008). Making connections in mathematics: Conceptual mathematics intervention for low performing students. *Remedial and Special Education*, 29, 33–45.
- Khalili, A., & Shashaani, L. (1994). The effectiveness of computer applications: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Research on Computing in Education* 27(1), 48–61.
- Kieran, C. (2007). Learning and teaching of algebra at the middle school through college levels:
 Building meaning for symbols and their manipulation. In F. K. Lester, Jr. (Ed.), *Second handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning* (Vol. 2, pp. 707–762).
 Charlotte, NC: Information Age.
- Knisley, J. (2001). A four-stage model of mathematical learning. *The Mathematics Educator*, 12(1).
- Kosc, L. (1974). Developmental dyscalculia. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 7, 164–177.
- Kuchemann, D. (1978). Children's understanding of numerical variables. *Mathematics in School*, 9, 23-26.
- Kulik, J., & Kulik, C. (1991). Meta-analytic findings on grouping programs. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 36(2), 73-77.

- Kulik, J., Kulik, C., & Cohen, P. (1980). Effectiveness of computer-based college teaching: A meta-analysis of findings. *Review of Educational Research*, 50(4), 525-544. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1170294
- Lesh, R., & Harel, G. (2003). Problem solving, modeling, and local conceptual development. Mathematical Thinking and Learning: An International Journal, 5, 157–190.
- *Long, M. E. (2015). The effect of explicit vocabulary instruction using specialized graphic organizers in secondary mathematics for students with disabilities (Order No. 3711286). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1697869907). Retrieved from http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/1697869907?accountid=7082
- López, Robles & Martínez-Planell (2016) Students' understanding of quadratic equations.
 International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology, 47:4, 552-572, DOI: 10.1080/0020739X.2015.1119895
- *Lugo, A. A., Jr. (2004). The effects of multimedia -based instructional technology on algebra I problem -solving skills of ninth through twelfth grade students with learning disabilities (Order No. 3147549). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (305199149). Retrieved from

http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/305199149?a ccountid=7082

*Maccini, P., & Hughes, C. (2000). Effects of a problem-solving strategy on the introductory algebra performance of secondary students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research and Practice*, 15(1), 10-21.

- *Maccini, P., & Ruhl, K. (2001). Effects of a graduated instructional sequence on the algebraic cubtraction of integers by secondary students with learning disabilities. *Education and Treatment of Children, 23*(4), 465-489.
- Maccini, P., Mcnaughton, D., & Ruhl, K. L. (1999). Algebra instruction for students with learning disabilities: Implications from a research review. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 22(2), 113-126. doi:10.2307/1511270
- *Malik, I. Z. (2011). Effects of multimedia-based instructional technology on african american ninth grade students' mastery of algebra concepts Available from ERIC. (964191691; ED527968). Retrieved from

http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/964191691?a ccountid=7082

- Marita, S., & Hord, C. (2017). Review of mathematics interventions for secondary students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*,40(1), 29-40.
 doi:10.1177/0731948716657495
- Miles, D. D., & Forcht, J. P. (1995). Mathematics Strategies for Secondary Students with Learning Disabilities or Mathematics Deficiencies: A Cognitive Approach. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 2, 91.
- Miller, S. P., & Mercer, C. D. (1997). Educational aspects of mathematics disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *30*, 47–56.
- Möbius, T. W. D. (2014). Metagen: inference in meta-analysis and meta regression. R Package Version, 1(0).

- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. PLoS Med 6(7): e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed1000097
- Morgan, P. L., Farkas, G., & Wu, Q. (2009). Five-year growth trajectories of kindergarten children with learning difficulties in mathematics. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 42(4), 306–321.
- Moses, R. P., & Cobb, C. E., Jr. (2001). *Radical equations: Math literacy and civil rights*. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Moss, J., Beatty, R., Barkin, S., & Shillolo, G. (2008). "What is your theory? What is your rule?": Fourth graders build an understanding of functions through patterns and generalizing problems. In C. Greenes & R. Rubenstein (Eds.), *Algebra and algebraic thinking in school mathematics: 70th year-book* (pp. 155–168). Reston, VA: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
- *Murray, A. (2017). Blended learning vs. traditional instruction as a predictor of student achievement in New York City Public Schools Available from ERIC. (2009555326; ED576895). Retrieved from

http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/2009555326 ?accountid=7082

National Assessment of Educational Progress. (2015). *The nation's report card: Mathematics & Reading Assessments*. Washington, DC: Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education.

- National Center for Education Statistics. (2013). *The nation's report card: A first look: 2013 mathematics and reading* (NCES 2014-451). Washington, DC: Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education.
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2000). *Principles and standards for school mathematics*. Reston, VA: Author.
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2006). *Principles and standards for school mathematics*. Reston, VA: Author.
- National Governors Association Center for Best Practices & Council of Chief State School Officers. (2010). *Common core state standards for mathematics*. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from

http://www.corestandards.org/assets/CCSSI_Math%20Standards.pdf

- National Mathematics Advisory Panel. (2008). *Foundations for success: The final report of the National Mathematics Advisory Panel*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from <u>http://www2.ed.gov/about/bdscomm/list/mathpanel/report/final-</u> <u>report.pdf</u>
- OECD (2016), PISA 2015 Results (Volume I): Excellence and Equity in Education, OECD Publishing, Paris.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264266490-en

- Parker, R. I., Vannest, K. J., Davis, J. L., & Sauber, S. B. (2011). Combining nonoverlap and trend for single-case research: Tau-U. *Behavior Therapy*, 42(2), 284-299. doi:10.1016/j.beth.2010.08.006
- Partnership, G. S. (2013, August 29). At-Risk Definition. Retrieved July 3, 2018, from https://www.edglossary.org/at-risk/

- *Quick, N. (2013). Effectiveness of the MIND Research Institute's algebra readiness curriculum on student achievement implemented in a tiered response to intervention model Available from ERIC. (1826532621; ED564912). Retrieved from http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/1826532621? accountid=7082
- Rakes, C. R., Valentine, J. C., Mcgatha, M. B., & Ronau, R. N. (2010). Methods of instructional improvement in algebra. *Review of Educational Research*, 80(3), 372-400. doi:10.3102/0034654310374880
- RAND Mathematics Study Panel. (2002). *Mathematical proficiency for all students: Toward a strategic research and development program in mathematics education* (No. MR-1643.0-OERI). Washington, DC: Office of Education Research and Improvement, U.S. Department of Education.
- Rivera, D. (1997). Mathematics education and students with learning disabilities: Introduction to the special series. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *30*(1), 2-19. Retrieved August 16, 2017.
- *Root, J. R., Henning, B., & Boccumini, E. (2018). Teaching students with autism and intellectual disability to solve algebraic word problems. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 53(3), 325–338.
- Rosenthal, R., & Rubin, D. B. (1986). Meta-analytic procedures for combining studies with multiple effect sizes. *Psychological Bulletin*, *99*(3), 400–406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.99.3.400</u>
- *Rosman, N. J. S. (1994). Effects of varying the special educator's role within an algebra class on math attitude and achievement Available from ERIC. (62701265; ED381993).

Retrieved from

http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/62701265?ac countid=7082

- *Satsangi, R., & Bouck, E. C. (2015). Using virtual manipulative instruction to teach the concepts of area and perimeter to secondary students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 38(3), 174–186.
- *Satsangi, R., Bouck, E. C., Taber-Doughty, T., Bofferding, L., & Roberts, C. A. (2016). Comparing the effectiveness of virtual and concrete manipulatives to teach algebra to secondary students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 39(4), 240– 253.
- *Satsangi, R., Hammer, R., & Evmenova, A. S. (2018). Teaching multistep equations with virtual manipulatives to secondary students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 33(2), 99–111.
- *Satsangi, R., Hammer, R., & Hogan, C. D. (2018). Studying virtual manipulatives paired with explicit instruction to teach algebraic equations to students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, *41*(4), 227–242.
- *Scheuermann, A. M., Deshler, D. D., & Schumaker, J. B. (2009). The effects of the Explicit Inquiry Routine on the performance of students with learning disabilities on one-variable equations. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, *32*(2), 103-120. doi:10.2307/27740360
- Schifter, D., Monk, S., Russell, S. J., & Bastable, V. (2008). Early algebra: What does understanding the laws of arithmetic mean in the elementary grades? In J. J. Kaput, D. W. Carraher, & M. L. Blanton (Eds.), *Algebra in the early grades* (pp. 413–447). New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Schiller, K. S. & Muller, C. (2003). Raising the bar and equity? Effects of state high school graduation requirements and accountability policies on students' mathematics course taking. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 25, 299 318. Available online at http://www.spokaneschools.org/ProfessionalLearning/Initiatives/Book_Study-04-2006/ProLibwebpage/Articles/Equity/Raising the Bar and Equity.pdf
- Schiller, K. S., Schmidt, W. H., Muller, C., & Houang, R. T. (2010). Hidden disparities: How courses and curricula shape opportunities in mathematics during high school. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 43(4), 414–433.

Schoenfeld, A. H. (1995). Is thinking about 'algebra' a misdirection? In C. Lacampagne, W.
Blair, & J. Kaput (Eds.), *The algebra initiative colloquium. Volume 2: Working group* papers (pp. 83–86). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement, National Institute on Student Achievement, Curriculum, and, Assessment. Retrieved from http://files.
eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED385437.pdf

- Seel, N. M. (2012). Encyclopedia of the sciences of learning. New York: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6_261.
- *Shin, M., & Bryant, D. P. (2017). Improving the fraction word problem solving of students with mathematics learning disabilities: Interactive Computer Application. *Remedial and Special Education*, 38(2), 76–86.
- Silver, D., Saunders, M., & Zarate, E. (2008). What factors predict high school graduation in the Los Angeles Unified School District . *California Dropout Research Project Report #14* . Retrieved September 26, 2017, from

file:///C:/Users/jmarbach/Downloads/researchreport14.pdf.

- Slavin, R. (1984). Meta-analysis in education: How has it been used? *Educational Researcher*, *13*(8), 6-15.
- *Slavin, R. E., Karweit, N. L., & Johns Hopkins Univ., B. M. C. for S. O. of S. (1982). *Student teams and mastery learning: A factorial experiment in urban math nine classes.*
- Spielhagen, F. R. (2006). Closing the achievement gap in math: The long-term effects of eighthgrade algebra. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, *18*(1), 34–39. http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ753970.
- St. George, D. (2014, June 29). Steep failure rate on algebra I exams in Montgomery leads to mass recalculation. *The Washington Post*. Retrieved September 26, 2017, from <u>http://www.highbeam.com/doc/1P2-36764481.html?refid=easy_hf</u>.
- Stanovich, Keith E. (1986). Matthew effects in reading: Some consequences of individual differences in the acquisition of literacy. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 22, 360-407.
- Steel, S. & Funnell, E. (2001). Learning multiplication facts: A study of children taught by discovery methods in England. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 79, 37–55. doi:10.1006/jecp.2000.2579.
- Steele, M. & Steele, J. (2003). Teaching algebra to students with learning disabilities. *The Mathematics Teacher*. 96(9), 622-624.
- *Stegall, J. B. (2013). Supplemental algebra vocabulary instruction for secondary students with learning disabilities Available from ERIC. (1773220288; ED559797). Retrieved from http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/1773220288 ?accountid=7082

- Strickland & Maccini (2010). Strategies for teaching algebra to students with learning disabilities: Making research to practice connections. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 46(1), 38-45.
- *Strickland, T. K. (2011). The effects of blended instruction and visual representations on area problems involving quadratic expressions for secondary students with mathematics learning difficulties (Order No. 3478903). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global; Publicly Available Content Database. (904163681). Retrieved from <u>http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/904163681?a</u> <u>ccountid=7082</u>
- *Strickland, T. K., & Maccini, P. (2012). The effects of the concrete-representational-abstract integration strategy on the ability of students with learning disabilities to multiply linear expressions within area problems. *Remedial and Special Education*, *34*(3), 142–153.
- *Suh, J., & Moyer, P. S. (2007). Developing students' representational fluency using virtual and physical algebra balances. *Journal of Computers in Mathematics and Science Teaching*, *26*(2), 155–173.
- Swanson, H. L., & Beebe-Frankenberger, M. (2004). The relationship between working memory and mathematical problem solving in children at risk and not at risk for serious math difficulties. Journal of Educational Psychology, 96, 471–491.
- Tarlow, K. R. (2017). An improved rank correlation effect size statistic for single-case designs: Baseline Corrected Tau. *Behavior Modification*, 41(4), 427 -

Thompson, B. (2002). What future quantitative social science research could look like: Confidence intervals for effect sizes. Educational Researcher, 31(3), 24-31.

467. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0145445516676750</u>

- Thornton, C.A., Langrall, C.W., & Jones, G.A. (1997). Mathematics instruction for elementary students with learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *30*(2), 142. doi: 10.1177/002221949703000202
- Tolar, Lederberg & Fletcher (2009) A structural model of algebra achievement: computational fluency and spatial visualisation as mediators of the effect of working memory on algebra achievement, *Educational Psychology*, 29:2, 239-266, DOI: 10.1080/01443410802708903
- Tolar, T. D., Fuchs, L., Cirino, P. T., Fuchs, L., Hamlett, C. L., & Fletcher, J. M. (2012).
 Predicting development of mathematical word problem solving across the intermediate grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *104*, 1083–1093. doi:10.1037/a0029020
- Torigoe, E., & Gladding, G. (2006). Same to us, different to them: Numeric computation versus symbolic representation. *AIP Conference Proceedings*, 883, 153-156.
- *Towers, D. (2018). Effects of the graphing calculator on students with and without disabilities Available from ERIC. (2101884836; ED585420). Retrieved from <u>http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/2101884836?</u> <u>accountid=7082</u>
- U.S. Department of Education, & National Center for Education Statistics. (1998). Pursuing excellence: A study of U.S. twelfth-grade: Mathematics and science achievement in international context (NCES 98-049). Washington, DC: U. S. Government Printing Office
- United States Department of Education report submitted by Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI) 2004.

- United States Department of Education report submitted by Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI) 2006.
- van Garderen, D. (2006). Spatial visualization, visual imagery, and mathematical problemsolving of students with varying abilities. Journal of Learning Disabilities, 39, 496–506.
- van Garderen, D., & Montague, M. (2003). Visual–spatial representation, mathematical problem solving, and students of varying abilities. Learning Disabilities Research & Practice, 18, 246–254.
- Vannest, K. J., & Ninci, J. (2015). Evaluating intervention effects in single-case research designs. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 93(4), 403-411. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12038
- Verschaffel, L., Greer, B., & De Corte, E. (2000). *Making sense of word problems*. Lisse, The Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger.
- Viechtbauer, W. (2010). Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. Journal of Statistical Software, 36(3), 1-48. Retrieved from http://www.jstatsoft.org/article/view/v036i03
- Vilenius-Tuohimaa, P. M., Aunola, K., & Nurmi, J. (2008). The association between mathematical word problems and reading comprehension. Educational Psychology, 28, 409–426.
- Vogel, C. (2008). Algebra: Changing the equation. District Administration, 44, 34-40.
- Warner, M., Alley, G., Schumaker, J., Deshler, D., & Clark, F. (1980). An epidemiological study of learning disabled adolescents in secondary schools: Achievement and ability, socioeconomic status and school experience (No. 13). Lawrence: University of Kansas Institute for Re-search in Learning Disabilities.

Watt, S. J. (2013). Teaching algebra-based concepts to students with learning disabilities: The effects of preteaching using a gradual instructional sequence Available from ERIC. (1697503705; ED554351). Retrieved from

http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/1697503705 ?accountid=7082

- Watt, S. J., Watkins, J. R., & Abbitt, J. (2016). Teaching algebra to students with learning disabilities: Where have we come and where should we go? *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 49(4), 437-447. doi:10.1177/0022219414564220
- What Works Clearinghouse Procedures and Standards Handbook Version 3.0. (n.d.). Retrieved September 01, 2017, from <u>https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc/Protocols#procedures</u>
- *Witzel, B. S. (2005). Using CRA to teach algebra to students with math difficulties in inclusive settings. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, *3*(2), 49–60.
- Witzel, B. S., Mercer, C. D., & Miller, M. D. (2003). Teaching algebra to students with learning difficulties: An investigation of an explicit instructional model. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 18(2), 121–131.
- Witzel, B., Smith, S. W., & Brownell, M. T. (2001). How can I help students with learning disabilities in algebra? *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 37(2), 101.

https://doi.org/10.1177/105345120103700205

 *Wojcik, A. J. (2017). Developing conceptual understanding and procedural fluency in algebra for high school students with intellectual disability Available from ERIC. (2034279232; ED581800). Retrieved from

http://proxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/docview/2034279232 ?accountid=7082

- Wolf, F. M. (1986). *Meta-analysis quantitative methods for research synthesis*. London: SAGE Publications.
- Woodward, J., & Montague, M. (2000, April). Meeting the challenge of mathematics reform for students with learning disabilities. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Council for Exceptional Children, Vancouver, Canada.
- *Xin, Y. P., & Jitendra, A. K. (1999). The effects of instruction in solving mathematical word problems for students with learning problems: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Special Education*, 32(4), 207-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002246699903200402</u>
- *Xin, Y. P., Wiles, B., & Lin, Y.-Y. (2008). Teaching conceptual model-based word problem story grammar to enhance mathematics problem solving. *Journal of Special Education*, 42(3), 163–178.
- Xin, Y. P., Zhang, D., Park, J. Y., Tom, K., Whipple, A., & Si, L. (2011). A comparison of two mathematics problem-solving strategies: Facilitate algebra-readiness. *Journal of Educational Research*, 104(6), 381–395.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2000). Attaining self-regulation: A social cognitive perspective. In M.
 Boekaerts, P. R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), *Handbook of Self-Regulation* (pp. 13–39).
 San Diego: Academic Press.
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Moylan, A. R. (2009). Self-regulation: Where metacognition and motivation intersect. In D. J. Hacker, J. Dunlosky, & A. C. Graesser (Eds.), *Handbook of Metacognition in Education* (pp. 299–315). New York, NY: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.

APPENDIX A

CODING SHEET

Author:			Year published:	
Title:				
Coder name:			Date coded:	
Inclusion criteria:				
Date study published betw	veen 1975-2018	Yes	No	
Students were enrolled K-	12	Yes	No	
Used experimental or Qua	si-experimental design	Yes	No	
Did the study include an a	lgebra intervention	Yes	No	
Does the study include ma	th achievement outcome	Yes	No	
Published in peer-reviewe	d journal or a dissertation	n Yes	No	
Available in English		Yes	No	
Is there sufficient information	tion to calculate the ES	Yes	No	Pending
(if No, contact the authors	s to request the information	on = pend	ling)	
		(° 41 - 1 - 4	·	
CHECKPOINT: If not a	II YES, STOP HERE. I	If the last	is Pending, H	OLD
Source: 4 – Doctoral Dissertation	1 – Journal25 – Master Thesis6	– Book o – Other: <u>-</u>	or Book Chapte	r 3 – Unpublished
Design:	1-Single 2 – R Subject Trial	andomiz (2 groups	ed Control 3 s) (s	– Pre-post design single group
Design Characteristics	1 – Experimental 2	– Quasi-	Experimental	3 – Mixed Methods
4 – Qualitative				
Subject Characteristics Number of participants pe Number of groups: Grade levels: 0 = not spec Mean Age:	r group: zified; 1= K-2 2=3-5 3=	=6-8 4=9	 9 -12	
Location of intervention: Classroom receiving math intervention:	1 – General Education	$2 - S_{\rm F}$	pecial Education	n 3 – Pull-out
Instructors 1 – Ge delivering intervention:	eneral Education 2 – S	pecial Ec	lucation 3- (Other

School 1 – Urba characteristics:	n 2 – Suburbar	n 3–R	Rural	5 – Not reported
School Characteristics (SES) middle/upper 5- upper 6-not re Participant information:	1- high poverty/lov eported	w SES	2- low/middl	e 3-middle 4-
Reported Ethnicity: $1 - Ar$	nerican Indian or Native	2 – As	ian	3 – Black or African American
$4 - \text{Hispanic or} \qquad 5 - \text{Na}$	a i valive ative Hawaijan or	6 - W	nite Non-	7 - Other
Latino Other 8 – Not reported	Pacific Islander	Hispar	nic	
	2 E1- 2	D - 41-	4 Others	5 Networked
Gender:	2 - Female 3 -	- Botu	4 – Otner:	3 - 100 reported
Inclusion of students with disa	bility in sample?	1 – Ye	s 2	2 – No
Who 1 – Clin identified/diagnosed disability?	ician 2 – Not	t provide	ed 3 – IEP Te	eam 4 – Other:
5				
What type of disability:	– Specific Learnii	ng	2 – ADHD	
	Disability		5 Employee	1 D'ataultanaa
5 – Autism 4 6 Visual Impairment 7	I – OHI Z Deefness		5 – Emotiona	I Disturbance
9 - Orthopedic Impairment	0 – Dearness		$\delta - \text{Heating II}$ 11 $- \text{TRI}$	mpanment
I I	Disability			
12 – Multiple Disabilities 1 15 – Other:	3 – Deaf-Blindnes	S	14 – Not indi	cated
Intervention Characteristics				
Type of Intervention in this art	icle(check all			
that apply)		7	NT	
1 – Modeling and Schema		Yes	No Na	
2 – Problem Solving Skills	T	res	No No	
3 - Self-regulation	- V	Ves	No	
5 Explicit Instruction	- N	Ves	No	
6 – Guided Practice	X	Ves	No	
7 – Feedback and Reinforceme	ent N	Yes	No	
8 – Peer Tutoring	Viit V	Yes	No	
9 – Cognitive Strategy Instruction			No	
10 – Concrete-Representational-Abstract Ye			No	

11 – Enhanced Anchor 12 – Graphic Organize	red Instruction rs	Yes No Yes No			
Content Area Intervention	1 – symbols and expressions	2 – linear equations	3 – quadratic equations		
4 – functions	5 – polynomials	6 – combinatorics and finite probability			
Total Length of Intervent Frequency of Intervention Number of Treatment S	ntion (# of weeks): on (# of sessions per wee essions total:	ek):			
Who delivered the 1 intervention: e	- Gen 2 - d.Teacher Special Ed Teacher	3 – Researcher 4 – 0	Clinician 5 Parent:		
6- Other Were they trained?	1 – Yes	2 – No			
Training time (# of hour	rs):				
Type of Training (check all that apply):	1 – Lecture	2 – Modeling	3- Role play 4- Other		
Who conducted the training:	1 – Researcher	2 – Graduate student	3 – Other:		
Structure of the session:	1 – Individual	2 – Group	3 – Classroom		
Intervention implemen described:	ted as 1 – yes	2 – no)		
Fidelity checks on the intervention?:	1 –yes	2 – no			
If yes, who conducted fidelity checks?:	1 – Researcher	2 – Graduate student	3 – Other:		
If yes, how often did they check? (# of weeks): Inter-rater reliability:					
Outcome Measure					

Dependent Variable: 3 – End of Unit Test	1 – Standardized (norm- referenced) Test 4 – CBM	2 – State Test5 – experimenter designed
Who administered the measure:	1 – parent	2 – teacher
3 – researcher	4 – clinician	5 – Other:
Instrumentation reported?	1 – Yes	2 – No
Reliability of test reported?	1 – Yes	2 – No
Alignment with NCTM reported?	1 – Yes	2 – No

Any Follow-Up

Yes/No

If yes, how many days after intervention? With same measure(s)? With different measures ? (If so, specify)

Effect Size Information:

Baseline for each the dependent variables in the study:

Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case baseline	
Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case baseline	
Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case baseline	
Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case baseline	
Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case baseline	
Results by dependent varia	ble	-	
Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case outcome	
Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case outcome	
Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case outcome	
Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case outcome	
Group Single or 2 group:	Mean (SD)	Single Case outcome	
Effect size (if reported):			
TypeES	Depend	lent Variable	
TypeES	Dependent Variable		
TypeES	Dependent Variable		
TypeES	Dependent Variable		
ypeESDependent Variable			

Quality of Study

Is means of recruitment to participate in the study clearly explained?

0=No, does not specify how the participants were recruited

1= Yes, clearly describes the recruitment process

Were appropriate procedures used to **increase the likelihood** that relevant characteristics of participants in the sample were comparable across conditions?

0= No (does not specify assignment to groups or is based on convenience, randomly assigned by district or by school)

1 = Yes; random assignment or matching design

Was sufficient information given characterizing the interventionists provided?

0= No; interventionists unknown, or may have systematically varied across conditions

1= Yes; interventionists clearly specified (level of training, profession, etc.)

2= Interventionists were the teachers

Was sufficient demographic information provided (age, gender, race/ethnicity, disability status, SES, grade, ELL status) for the participants?

0 = No (demographic data limited to 1-2 of these factors)

2 = Demographic data limited to 3-4 of these factors

3= Demographic data included all 7 factors

Did participants in the control and intervention group differ on any of the demographic factors?

2= No between group differences were present at baseline

1= Minimal between group differences were present or any differences were accounted for

0= Insufficient information to determine if between group differences existed at baseline

Was the intervention clearly described and specified?

0 = No; intervention not clearly described

1= Yes; intervention clearly described; you could implement it from the description

Is there a record of how many minutes/hours of intervention each participant received?

0= No; no record of minutes/hours of intervention received by each participant

1= Yes; there is a clear record of how many minutes/hours of intervention each participant received

Was the nature of services provided in comparison conditions described?

0= No; comparison condition was not described or was described as "business as usual"

1= Professional development of the control group was described (quarterly in services, etc.)

Was data available on attrition rates among intervention samples?

0= No; attrition not documented in report

1= Yes; attrition documented in report, but not comparable across groups

2= Yes; attrition documented in report, and comparable across groups

Were data collectors and/or scorers blind to study conditions and equally (un)familiar to examinees across study conditions?

0= No; data collectors and/or scorers were not blind to conditions, were not equally familiar to examinees across conditions, or no information was provided on this

1= Yes & No; data collectors and scorers were blind to condition or equally familiar/unfamiliar to examinees across conditions

2= Yes; data collectors and scorers were blind to condition AND equally familiar/unfamiliar to examinees across conditions

Were outcomes for capturing the intervention's effect measured beyond an immediate posttest? (follow-up data collected?)

0= No; no follow up data

1= Yes; follow up data were collected for the Treatment groups, but not control

2= Yes; follow up data were collected for BOTH Treatment AND Control groups

Did the study provide not only internal consistency reliability but **also test–retest reliability and interrater reliability** (when appropriate) for outcome measures?

0= No reliability statistics provided

1= only internal consistency provided

2= Internal consistency assessed as well as test-retest and/or interrater reliability

Was evidence of the criterion-related validity **and** construct validity of the measures provided? 0= no clearly presented evidence for criterion related validity OR construct validity for outcome measures

1= evidence of **ONLY** criterion-related **OR** construct validity (for all measures)

2= clear evidence of criterion related validity **AND** construct validity for outcome measures

Was more than one norm- 1 - Yes

referenced or CBM used to measure Algebra skills?

2 – No

Total Quality Score (sum of all these items)

APPENDIX B

PRISMA DIAGRAM



PRISMA 2009 Flow Diagram



APPENDIX C

NCTM STANDARDS FOR ALGEBRA

Adapted from National Council of Teachers of Mathematics Standards(2000)

Learning Objectives	Understand patterns, relations, and functions	Represent and analyze mathematical situations and structures using algebraic symbols	Use mathematical models to represent and understand quantitative relationships	Analyze change in various contexts
Pre-K – 2	 sort, classify, and order objects by size, number, and other properties; recognize, describe, and extend patterns such as sequences of sounds and shapes or simple numeric patterns and translate from one representation to another; analyze how both repeating and growing patterns are generated. 	 illustrate general principles and properties of operations, such as commutativity, using specific numbers; use concrete, pictorial, and verbal representations to develop an understanding of invented and conventional symbolic notations. 	• model situations that involve the addition and subtraction of whole numbers, using objects, pictures, and symbols	 describe qualitative change, such as a student's growing taller; describe quantitative change, such as a student's growing two inches in one year.
Grades 3 – 5	 describe, extend, and make generalizations about geometric and numeric patterns; represent and analyze patterns and functions, using words, tables, and graphs. 	 identify such properties as commutativity, associativity, and distributivity and use them to compute with whole numbers; represent the idea of a variable as an unknown quantity using a letter or a symbol; express mathematical relationships using equations. 	•model problem situations with objects and use representations such as graphs, tables, and equations to draw conclusions.	 investigate how a change in one variable relates to a change in a second variable; identify and describe situations with constant or varying rates of change and compare them.
Grades 6 - 8	• represent, analyze, and generalize a variety of patterns with tables, graphs, words, and,	• develop an initial conceptual understanding of different uses of variables;	• model and solve contextualized problems using various representations,	• use graphs to analyze the nature of changes in quantities in

	 when possible, symbolic rules; relate and compare different forms of representation for a relationship; identify functions as linear or nonlinear and contrast their properties from tables, graphs, or equations 	 explore relationships between symbolic expressions and graphs of lines, paying particular attention to the meaning of intercept and slope; use symbolic algebra to represent situations and to solve problems, especially those that involve linear relationships; recognize and generate equivalent forms for simple algebraic expressions and solve linear equations 	such as graphs, tables, and equations	linear relationships.
9 -	 generalize patterns using explicitly defined and recursively defined functions; understand relations and functions and select, convert flexibly among, and use various representations for them; analyze functions of one variable by investigating rates of change, intercepts, zeros, asymptotes, and local and global behavior; understand and perform transformations such as arithmetically combining, composing, and inverting commonly used functions, using technology to perform such operations on 	 understand the meaning of equivalent forms of expressions, equations, inequalities, and relations; write equivalent forms of equations, inequalities, and systems of equations and solve them with fluency—mentally or with paper and pencil in simple cases and using technology in all cases; use symbolic algebra to represent and explain mathematical relationships; use a variety of symbolic representations, including recursive and parametric equations, for functions and relations; 	 identify essential quantitative relationships in a situation and determine the class or classes of functions that might model the relationships; use symbolic expressions, including iterative and recursive forms, to represent relationships arising from various contexts; draw reasonable conclusions about a situation being modeled. 	• approximate and interpret rates of change from graphical and numerical data.
		102		

Grades

more-complicated symbolic expressions;

• understand and compare the properties of classes of functions, including exponential, polynomial, rational, logarithmic, and periodic functions;

• interpret representations of

functions of two variables • judge the meaning, utility, and reasonableness of the results of symbol manipulations, including those carried out by technology.